
 

 

 
 

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
 

Company Registrat ion Number : 03901606 

Charity Number: 1081156  

NOAH’S ARK -  

THE CHILDREN’S HOSPICE 
(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE) 



 

2 
 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

CONTENTS 

 

Legal  and admini st rat ive information  3 

 

Statement of  the Chai rman  4 –  5  

 

Statement of  the Chief  Executive  6 –  7  

 

Di rectors ’  Report  8  –  36 

 

Independent Audi tor’s  Repor t  37 –  40 

 

Statement of  F inancial  Act iv i t ies  41 

 

Balance Sheet  42 

 

Cash F low Statement  43 

 

Notes to the f inancial  statements  44 –  58 



 

3 
 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE INFORMATION  

 

DIRECTORS:  

 

Mr Jeremy I saacs CBE (Chai rman)  

Mr Jonathan Rose (Deputy Chai rman – res igned 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Dr  Hi lary  Cass OBE (appointed 27 January 2020)  

Mr David Lazarus (T reasurer  –  res igned 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Mr David Greenhalgh-Todd (res igned 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Dr  Jane Hawdon 

Mr Ni lesh Jethwa (res igned 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Mr  Adam Levin  

Dr  Heather  Mackinnon MBE  

Ms Jenny Phi l l ips (appointed 27 Apr i l  2020)  

Ms Sarah Timms  

Mr R ichard Amat (Treasurer  appointed 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Ms Michel le Mendelsson (appointed 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Dr  Sanj iv Patel  (appointed 5 Ju ly 2021)  

Mr Paul  Pomroy (appointed 5  Ju ly 2021)  

  

SECRETARY:  Mrs L indsay Davidson  

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE:  Mrs Sophie Andrews OBE (appointed 6 January 2020)  

 

COMPANY NUMBER:   03901606 

 

CHARITY NUMBER:  1081156 

 

REGISTERED OFFICE:  The Ark , 101 A Byng Road, Barnet , Hertfordshi re EN5 4NP  

 

WEB ADDRESS :  www.noahsarkhospice.org.uk  

 

AUDITORS:  Haysmacintyre LLP:  10 Queen St Place, London EC4R 1 AG  

 

BANKERS:  HSBC: 171 Darkes Lane, Potters  Bar ,  Hertfordshi re, EN6 1BU  

 

SOLICITORS:  Decher t LLP, 160 Queen Victor ia Stre et , London EC4V 4QQ 



 

4 
 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN 

 

As  detai led later  in  th i s  report ,  over  the las t per iod we have set  new 

organisat ional  values . Of  these values , i t  i s  perhaps ‘Courage’ which has been 

the key character i s t ic  ident i f ied wi th in at  Noah’s Ark dur ing th i s  pe r iod. Rapidly 

expedi t ing the opening of  The Ark ’s  ‘Woodlands’ wing,  several  months  ahead of  

schedule to re l ieve London hospi ta ls  and suppor t chi ldren in acute need dur ing 

the f i r s t  Covid-19 wave was an act  of  great  courage. In those ear ly days ,  when 

most of  us were locked away at home, our  team met to del iberate over  our  

readiness to commence 24/7 care at The Ark ,  inc luding end of  l i fe care. The 

answer was emphatic –  “we have to f ind a way”.  

 

S ince then,  the team have been on the f ront l ine, he lping babies ,  chi ldren and 

young people who are ser ious ly unwel l  make the most of  every day of  thei r  shor t  

l i ves , and suppor t ing thei r  fami l ies throughout. I  recal l  speaking wi th the father  

of  a three-year-o ld boy, who told me that Noah’s Ark had helped hi s  son “regain 

trus t  wi th the wor ld”,  after  he had endured a success ion of  procedures and 

setbacks . I t  i s  these moments that  motivate al l  of  us at Noah’s Ark to keep growing 

so we may help many more chi ldren l i ke th i s  l i t t le boy, and thei r  fami l ies .   

 

Th i s  i s  the reason why our  va lue of  ‘Excel lence’ i s  so important . ‘Excel lence’ i sn’ t  

an end-point we are s tr iv ing for ,  rather  i t ’ s  a commi tment to the pursu i t  of  the 

very h ighest of  standards in al l  that we do i .e.  the qual i ty of  being outs tanding 

at every interaction wi th the chi ldren and fami l ies we care for ,  wi th our  

supporters ,  wi th each other . There are over  2 ,400 chi ldren who are ser ious ly unwel l  

in  our  catchment area who could be benef i t t ing f rom Noah’s Ark’s  support .  We 

have come a long way over  the las t year  but  there i s  so much more to do. Being 

hugely ambi t ious and ensur ing we have the structures , people and sys tems to 

del iver  on that  ambi t ion wi l l  be key to our  ‘No Chi ld Lef t  Behind’  s t rategy. When 

launched in 2022, th i s  s t rategy wi l l  set out the roadmap to growing at pace to 

ensure that many more chi ldren and fami l ies are receiving f i r s t -c lass care. I t 

promises to be a hugely important and exci t ing per iod for  the char i ty .  

 

Our  f inal  value i s  of  the utmost  impor tance.  ‘K indness’ .  K indness  at The Ark  i s  

palpable,  every t ime anybody enter s  The Ark ,  or  attends one of  our  act iv i ty  days 

which,  thankfu l ly ,  are back up and running. K indness i s  at  the centre of  what we 

do. I t  i s  th i s  value that has been the key in gredient of  Noah’s Ark’s  success to  

date. From the k indness of  our  Care Team towards those we suppor t ;  to the 

k indness of  our  t rus tees , s taf f  and volunteers in  work ing together  to bui ld Noah’s 

Ark ;  to the k indness of  our  suppor ters ,  wi thout whom the char i t y not ex i st  as i t  

does today –  ‘Kindness’ i s  a great  uni f ier .    
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

STATEMENT OF THE CHAIRMAN (CONTINUED)  

 

I ’d l i ke to thank the trus tees who ret i red in the las t f inancial  year  for  thei r  

dedication and support .  They were ins trumental  in  growing the char i ty  and 

br inging The Ark to f ru i t ion . A warm welcome to our  new trustees who come f rom 

a var iety of  backgrounds and wi l l  support us in  the next s tage of  our  

development. On behalf  of  the Board of  Trus tees , I  would l i ke to exten d our  thanks 

to Chief  Executive, Sophie Andrews, and her  whole team who have stepped up 

dur ing the pandemic and supported the ch i ldren and fami l ies who needed us  

most .  

 

I  would l i ke to of fer  a special  f inal  thanks to our  suppor ter s .  When Covid -19 s truck , 

we asked our  supporters  to provide the funds  requi red to maintain our  services .  

As  the year  progressed, we asked for  the funds requi red to lay the foundations  

for  th i s  next ,  much needed growth phase.  In both instances , our  suppor ters  

del ivered emphatical ly and wi th immense generos i ty .  A s incere thank you on 

behalf  of  everybody at Noah’s Ark Chi ldren’s  Hospice for  cont inu ing to stand by 

us.    

 

 

Jeremy I saacs CBE  

Chai rman   

NO AH’S ARK –  THE CHILDREN’S HOSPICE  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

At  the t ime of  wr i t ing I  have been in post  as Chief  Executive for  a lmost  two years .  

I t ’s  t rue to say i t  has  been two years l i ke no other  and no -one could have 

ant ic ipated the longevi ty of  Covid -19 and the continued uncer taint ies we al l  

face,  both profess ional ly and personal ly .  None of  us in  the char i ty  sector  

expected to be wr i t ing about the ef fects of  the pandemic 18 months on.  

 

I t  seems we are now l iv ing wi th Covid -19 and have emerged f rom the mult ip le  

lock-downs wi th a renewed sense  of  purpose and ident i ty . I n  las t  year ’s  repor t I  

wrote that “ I ’m commi tted to ensur ing we not only survive and suppor t the NHS 

dur ing th i s  cr i s i s ,  but also emerge as a s tronger organisat ion.” I  am pleased to 

repor t that we have achieved th i s  and end the p er iod in a s tronger f inancial  

pos i t ion ,  wi th new contracts and partnersh ips  negotiated dur ing th i s  most  di f f icu l t  

year .  Thanks  to government funding across  the hospice sector ,  local  contracts  

wi th commiss ioners and the success of  three very  di s t inct fundra i s ing appeals ,  we 

have emerged as a s tronger organisat ion and we are now looking to the future  

wi th a sense of  real  ambi t ion and purpose.  

 

You wi l l  read later  in  the repor t about the operat ional  chal lenges we faced upon 

receiving a cal l  to act ion f rom the NHS as they needed vi ta l  bed-space, and how 

we were able to respond to be there when needed. Our  s t rong re lat ionships  wi th 

the NHS and char i ty partner s  were bui l t  dur ing th i s  t ime of  cr i s i s  and wi th our  

newly opened chi ldren’s  hospice bui lding, The Ark , we  quick ly f i t ted into the 

support network across nor th and north centra l  London, car ing for  babies , 

chi ldren, young people and fami l ies  who needed suppor t at  home and in The Ark .  

Perhaps most sober ing was the reve lat ion f rom many fami l ies who told us  that t he 

i solat ion that other s  were exper iencing dur ing lockdown represented only  a s l ight  

deviat ion f rom thei r  “normal” as they were used to l iv ing in a protected bubble.  

In  many ways , our  s taf f  star ted to exper ience for  the f i r s t  t ime what the fami l ies  

they suppor ted l i ved wi th every day.  

 

We are now s tronger wi th the organisat ional  and f inancial  res i l ience to real i se 

our  ambi t ions .  At  the t ime of  s igning these accounts we have developed our  new 

three-year organisat ional  s t rategy and have a new vi s ion in which we aspi re to 

reach many more of  the babies , chi ldren and young people in our  catchment  

area who are ser ious ly  unwel l  and for  them, and thei r  loved ones  to have access 

to expert  and compass ionate pal l iat ive care f rom the point of  diagnosi s .  Th i s  wi l l  

requi re education about chi ldren’s hospice care across the whole chi ldren’s  

workforce. We know the word ‘hospice’ i s  of ten mentioned at the f inal  s tages of  

l i fe, but we can be there at the beginning of  the journey as wel l  as at the end.  

 

We can be there af ter  di agnosi s ,  through al l  s tages of  l i fe and death and suppor t 

fami l ies to make the most of  every day.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE (CONTINUED)  

 

Chi ldren’s hospice care i s  about l i v ing and making the most of  every day. I t  i s  

about creating those special  memor ies and al lowing those we suppor t to enjoy 

l i fe as chi ldren, rather  than as patients ;  as  fami l ies ,  not jus t  as carer s .   

 

We couldn’t  do any of  our  work wi thout people. So I ’d l i ke to thank my incredib le 

team of  s taf f  and volunteers who have l ived through a l l  the uncertaint ies of  the 

las t 18 months , and to our  wonderfu l  supporters  who have given vi tal  t ime and 

funds to us to enable us to grow s tronger . I t  i s  t rue to say we wi l l  a l l  remember 

where we worked in 2020 -  2021.  

 

On the subject of  uncertainty (which must be one of  the most  used words in 2021)  

I ’m reminded of  a quote f rom Jodi  Picoult ,  f rom her  book, My S i ster ’s  Keeper :  

 

“Normal , in  our  house,  i s  l i ke a blanket too short  for  a bed --sometimes i t  covers 

you just  f ine, and other  t imes i t  leaves you cold and shaking; and worst  of  a l l ,  you 

never  know which of  the two i t ' s  going to be.”  

 

We are now l i v ing wi th  Covid -19 as the new normal . Our  b lanket cur rent ly covers  

us.  However , we wi l l  never  be complacent.  

 

Thank you to everyone who has  suppor ted us .   

 

 

 

 

 

Sophie Andrews OBE  

Chief  Executive  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT  

 

The Board i s  p leased to submi t  i t s  repor t and f inancial  statements for  the 15 

months  ended 31 March 2021.  

 

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIV IT IES FOR THE PUBLIC BENEFIT  

 

The latest report  by Professor  Lorna Fraser 1,  the lead researcher  in  chi ldren’s 

pal l iat i ve care in the UK, indicated that there a re over  2 ,400 babies , chi ldren and 

young people who may requi re pal l iat ive suppor t in  our  geographical  area. To 

meet the needs of  th i s  ever -growing popu lat ion, Noah’s  Ark  Chi ldren’s  Hospice 

wi l l  cont inue to of fer  hospice care in fami l ies’  homes,  in  the com muni ty and f rom 

our  s tate-of  the-ar t  chi ldren’s hospice bui lding, The Ark .  

 

Our  work i s  informed by statutory and sector  guidance, regulated by the Care 

Qual i ty Commiss ion.  

 

Th i s  repor t demonstrates how publ ic benef i t  was de l ivered through Noah’s Ark ’s  

char i table aims in 2020/21.  I n  work ing to de l iver  these object ives , the Board of  

the Char i ty i s  cognisant of  the need to comply wi th publ ic benef i t  requi rements .   

To that  end we have paid due regard to the publ i shed guidance f rom the Char i ty  

Commiss ion on the operat ion of  the Publ ic Benef i t  requi rement under the 

Char i t ies Act 2011 .  

 

Our Vis ion  

 

Our  vi s ion i s  for  every baby, chi ld and young person who i s  ser ious ly unwel l ,  and 

thei r  loved ones , to have access to expert and compass ionate pal l iat ive care 

f rom the point of  diagnosi s .   

 

Our Miss ion 

 

We he lp chi ldren wi th l i fe -threatening or  l i fe - l imi t ing condi t ions ,  and thei r  

fami l ies ,  make the most of  every day. And we suppor t those who die  young to do 

so in as much comfort as poss ible , sur rounded by fami ly .  We  are here to enable 

those we suppor t to en joy l i fe as chi ldren, rather  than as patients ;  as fami l ies ,  not  

just  as carer s .  

                                                      
1 Lorna K Fraser ,  Deborah Gibson-Smi th , S tuar t Jarvi s ,  Paul  Norman, Roger 

Par s low, Univer s i t ies of  York and Leeds.  ‘Make Every Chi ld Count’ Est imating 

cur rent and future prevalence of  chi ldren and young people wi th l i fe - l imi t ing 

condi t ions in  the Uni ted Kingdom– February 2020.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

About  Us  

 

We are one of  the UK’s leading chi ldren’s hospices , provi ding care for  over  350 

chi ldren and thei r  fami l ies every year . We work in partnersh ip wi th London’s NHS 

Trusts ,  medical  profess ionals  and heal th and social  care organisat ions to provide 

every chi ld and fami ly wi th the care,  suppor t and exper t i se they need.   

 

We provide the h ighest qual i ty of  care and compass ion for  our  babies,  chi ldren 

and young people.  We also of fer  fami l ies the help they need to make thei r  l i ves  

eas ier .  Our  suppor t i s  carefu l ly  adapted for  every chi ld and i s  of fered wherever  

i t  i s  requi red -  whether  in  thei r  home, the i r  communi ty or  at our  centre of  

excel lence, The Ark , in  north London. We have created a space where ser ious ly 

unwel l  chi ldren are accepted as they are,  safe to play, explore , express 

themselves and bui ld conf idence.  

 

We bel ieve every chi ld deserves a h igh qual i ty l i fe and death. From creating and 

shar ing sounds in music therapy, to holding the hands of  parents  dur ing thei r  

chi ld’s  f inal  moments ,  we be l ieve in making every moment matter .  We help 

chi ldren and fami l ies by focus ing on what they are able to do, rather  than on any 

perceived l imi tat ions .  

 

We s tand s ide by s ide wi th fami l ies as  they face the unimaginable. We cannot 

change the diagnosi s ,  but  we can do everyth ing we can to he lp them make the 

most of  thei r  t ime togethe r .  

 

At  present , we care for  over  350 chi ldren who l ive wi th 132 di f ferent condi t ions .  

78% have a di sabi l i ty and 55% are below the age of  5 . No chi ld or  condi t ion i s  too 

complex. Babies , chi ldren and young people wi th l i fe -threatening or  l i fe - l imi t ing 

condi t ions can be in our  care for  many years  before transfer r ing to adul t  services . 

The pal l iat ive care that we provide i s  not just  for  those chi ldren near ing the end 

of  thei r  l i ves ,  but par t of  an integrated approach to care that aims to enhance 

thei r  ent i re l i fe.  

 

Across the areas of  north  and central  London we cover , there are over  2 ,400 

babies , chi ldren and young people who have l i fe - l imi t ing or  l i fe -threatening 

condi t ions . We are work ing wi th  leading London NHS trus ts  to  ident i fy which of  

these chi ldren could most benef i t  f rom our  support .  Th i s  inc ludes chi ldren 

requi r ing long-term venti lat ion, many of  whom have condi t ions that are too 

complex to be managed by other  chi ldren’s  hospices . We bel ieve that  no chi ld 

should be lef t  behind.   

 

In  the UK, many babies , chi ldren and young people wi th l i fe - l imi t ing or  l i fe -

threatening condi t ions do not have easy access to pal l iat i ve care services -  whi l s t  

societal  di scomfor t in  ta lk ing about these i s sues of ten adds to fami l ies’  sense of  

helplessness  and lone l iness .  We want to change th i s ,  by bui lding a better  

unders tanding of  chi ldren’s pal l iat ive care so that  every chi ld and fami ly receives 

the support  they need.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Cul ture and Values  

 

Since the end of  the 15-month per iod, and in l ine wi th our  s t rategic review, we  

have re-examined our  culture  and values . We asked a large number of  

stakeholders in  the char i ty ,  such as s taf f ,  vo lunteers ,  t rus tees and fami l ies how 

they viewed the char i ty  and how they fe l t  about our  cul ture  and values . The 

Senior  Leadersh ip Team considered a l l  the responses over  a per iod of  some weeks 

and then developed new values ,  which represent  the char i ty and our  miss ion. 

These were then shared and di scussed wi th a l l  the stakeholders an d, as  a resu l t ,  

we have def ined three new values .  They are Kindness , Excel lence and Courage.  

 

 KINDNESS  

  We show compass ion and empathy in al l  our  

interactions  

  We put the chi ld and fami ly at the heart  of  a l l  

we do 

  We are considerate:  act thoughtfu l ly  and 

behave wi th integr i ty  

  We go above and beyond 

  We embrace diver s i ty  

  We create precious moments  for  chi ldren and 

thei r  fami l ies  

  We actively promote good mental  heal th and 

look af ter  our  team 

  We do not judge other s for  thei r  di f ferences  

 

 EXCELLENCE  

  We are exacting and pass ionate about our  

miss ion  

  Our exper t and dedicated team i s  tenacious 

and so lut ion focused  

  We are pioneer ing, creative and adaptable  

  We col laborate and bui ld partner sh ips  

  We l i s ten and learn  

  We are considered and ref lect ive  

  We plan and grow responsively and responsibly  

  We invest in  our  people  

 COURAGE  

  We are strong and ambit ious in  al l  we do  

  We chal lenge the s tatus quo,  making bold 

decis ions and th ink ing big  

  We help fami l ies and each other  bui ld res i l ience 

and aim to empower  

  We act wi th candour and integr i ty  

  We reach out to people in very di f f icu l t  

c i rcumstances  

  We do not shy away f rom making hard decis ions 

or  f rom chal lenging s i tuat ions  

  We are not  af raid to ask for  help  

 

We are embedding these values across a l l  aspects of  the char i ty .  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Impact of  the Covid-19 pandemic  

 

The impact of  the Covid-19 pandemic was fe l t  across a l l  areas of  the char i ty .  

Al though we had recently completed the bui ld of  The Ark ,  we were in the process 

of  tes t ing i t  and train ing our  Care Team when the pandemic s truck. In  order  to 

faci l i tate a change f rom communi ty-based work ing to a necessary focus on 

res ident ia l  s tays in  The Ark ,  we had to establ i sh a whole new way of  work ing for  

our  Care Team. Th i s  inc luded a heavy focus on infect ion contro l  to keep our  

chi ldren, thei r  fami l ies and carer s  and our  s taf f  safe  and conf ident  when coming 

into The Ark .  

 

The major i ty of  our  staf f  rose magni f icent ly to the chal lenge and adapted to new 

ways of  work ing –  new sh i f t s ,  long hours ,  rota changes at  short  not ice to 

accommodate chi ldren at end of  l i fe and coming to  The Ark dai ly whi le thei r  

peers  in  other  depar tments  worked f rom home. Th i s  led to some chal lenges in 

terms of  managing, suppor t ing and communicating wi th s taf f ,  but by adapting 

our  ways of  work ing,  inc luding f requent cal l s  wi th t rus tees , the prol i f ic  use  of  Zoom 

meetings and a for tn ight ly newsletter  to al l  s taf f  and trustees , we managed to 

overcome some very chal lenging months .  

 

E l sewhere in the char i ty , as a response to the pandemic, we a lso encountered 

s igni f icant change as we moved to a model of  work in g f rom home. We al so took  

the decis ion to fur lough some 35% of  the staf f  i .e . main ly those in non -care 

functions : large ly fundrai s ing and support staf f .  At the same t ime, we ran a 

successfu l  emergency appeal .  Th i s  developed our  sk i l l s  in  di rect market ing a nd 

onl ine giving and gave us the conf idence to run our  f i r s t  matched giving 

campaign ‘Moments  that  Matter ’  in  November  2020,  which was the most  

successfu l  fundrai s ing in i t iat ive in the char i ty’s  h i story .   
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

CARE 

 

  Noah’s Ark received 110 new refer rals  of  which 95 new fami l ies were 

accepted.  

  We offered care services for  930 benef ic iar ies,  compr i s ing 198 babies , 

chi ldren and young people, 452 of  thei r  parents/carers  and 280 of  thei r  

s ib l ings .  

  28 Noah’s Ark babies ,  chi ldren and young people died and the char i ty 

cont inued to support 67 fami l ies post -bereavement.  

 

2020/2021 was a per iod of  t ransformational  change for  our  care provi s ion,  

launching major  new services at The Ark and adapting our  home  and communi ty  

provi s ion in the chal lenging c i rcumstances presented by Covid.  An imperat ive 

has been invest ing in cons iderable s taf f  t rain ing and development to ensure the 

safety and compl iance of  The Ark and new services . We al so endeavoured to 

ensure that  the r ight se rvices were avai lable  to neonates ,  babies , ch i ldren, young 

people and thei r  fami l ies when and where they needed them.  

 

In  January 2020 we hosted a Care Qual i ty Commiss ion inspection of  The Ark . Care 

Qual i ty Commiss ion s ign of f  was granted to  open The Ark to de l iver  care services,  

wi th outs tanding feedback provided, including by a Senior  Care Qual i ty 

Commiss ion Manager . In  February 2020 Cl in ical  Services hosted the f i r s t  of  many 

planned ‘pi lots ’  wi th Noah’s Ark employees and refer red fami l ies .   

 

Covid-19 Response 

 

In  ear ly March 2020 the Care Team met, hoping to di scuss and implement 

feedback f rom the pi lots .  However ,  the remainder of  2020/2021 was impacted 

radical ly by the Covid-19 pandemic . Team pr ior i t ies t ransformed to:  

 

  The ear ly opening of  Woodlands (chi ldren’s bedroom) Wing, Meadows 

(fami ly  bedroom) Wing, and our  Butter f ly  (bereavement)  Su i tes in  response 

to an urgent cal l  for  act ion f rom the National  Heal th Service.  

  Robust infect ion prevention and control  measures and r i sk  assessments .  

  Expedi t ing some temporary acquis i t ion of  equipment and agreement of  

contracts re lat ing to care at The Ark .  

  Expedi t ing employee train ing and development to ensure safety  and 

compl iance.  

  Ensur ing the r ight services were avai lable for  our  benef ic iar ies.  

 

The Care Team as a resu l t  have been there for  babies , chi ldren and young people 

in the most acute need, including those at  the end of  thei r  l i ves  or  us ing the 

Butter f ly  Su i tes post death,  as wel l  as thei r  fami l ies facing chal lenges  that were 

exacerbated by the pandemic.   
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Covid presented s ign i f icant operat ional  chal lenges , inc luding shor tages of  

c l in ical  equipment, oxygen and personal  protective equipment.  Access to and 

management of  medications was harder  due to the pressures on the NHS and we 

had to establ i sh local  and ou t-of-area General  Pract i t ioner  re lat ionships for  the 

f i r s t  t ime, which were di f f icu l t  to ar range due to Covid re lated logi st ical  

chal lenges . Safeguarding concerns and refer rals  increased. Many fami l ies were 

in cr i s i s  or  sh ie lding and the number of  baby, ch i ld and young person deaths  

supported by the Care Team reached a peak in the char i ty’s  h i s tory . A 

neighbour ing chi ldren’s hospice was forced to c lose one of  i t s  s i tes and they 

reached out  to Noah’s  Ark  to support  Nor th  West  London refer ra ls .  Over  a quarter  

of  end of  l i fe and post death refer ral s  dur ing th i s  per iod were f rom Nor th  West  

London.  

 

In  order  to provide the best poss ib le care, our  Chief  Executive, Sophie Andrews 

OBE,  made changes to Noah’s Ark’s  Senior  Leadersh ip Team, promoting an Inter im 

Di rector  of  Care.  The next  s tage of  the res t ructure appl ied to the wider  Care 

Team. Consul tat ions and feedback were obtained f rom Care Team members ,  

ensur ing voices were heard before deciding on the f inal  Care Team structure .  

Three par t - t ime senior  Medical  Di rec tors  were a lso appointed, providing 

considerable advice and support to the Care Team.  

 

Given the chal lenges for  staf f  brought about by Covid, a renewed emphasi s  was  

placed on Care Team wel lbeing and development. By Ju ly  2020, wel lbeing 

in i t iat ives include d a fu l l  ‘Wel lbeing Week’ . Supervi s ion, induction, t rain ing, 

compl iance and development opportuni t ies  for  the Care Team were areas of  

par t icular  focus .  Hol i s t ic  Services, inc luding some members of  the Fami ly Activ i t ies 

and Therapies teams,  returned f rom fu r lough and our  communi ty services  

resumed.  

 

Fol lowing feedback f rom the ‘Wel lbeing Week’ , the Inter im Di rector  of  Care and 

Senior  Head of  Care s tarted monthly appreciat ion acts  for  the Care Team, based 

on Care Team feedback.  

 

“The consensus i s  that  the c ur rent  Senior  Leaders  are commit ted and pass ionate 

about  prov iding a h igh -qual i ty sustainable serv ice for  chi ldren,  young people and 

thei r  fami l ies  and the Care Team in  major i ty are in support  of  the new rest ructure.”  

Independent Care Qual i ty  Commiss ion Audi t  

 

Compl iments were recorded for  al l  departments  across  Care th roughout th i s  

per iod. The h ighest number of  compl iments were for  the Fami ly Ac tiv i t ies team,  

who organised a wide range of  fun events for  Noah’s Ark fami l ies .  Th i s  i s  grat i fy ing 

as i t  demonstrates that we provided tai lor -made, access ible and engaging 

activ i t ies for  fami l ies ,  even when we were social ly di s tancing and many fami l ies  

were sh ie lding.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Dur ing th i s  per iod, the Senio r  Leadersh ip Team agreed i t  was imperat ive to 

faci l i tate the implementat ion of  R AD AR , our  new r i sk  management sys tem. Now 

that i t  i s  successfu l ly  up and running, al l  s taf f  are automatical ly  enrol led in 

induction, t rain ing, and supervi s ion, and not i f ied of  new pol ic ies and procedures . 

Furthermore, R AD AR moni tors  compl iments ,  complaints ,  feedback, suggest ions , 

inc idents ,  accidents and our  annual  audi t  schedule . The r i sk  regi ster  i s  a lso 

maintained and moni tored us ing R AD AR .  

 

Making the most o f  every day  

 

As  the father  of  a young person we support put i t ,  dur ing th i s  most chal lenging of 

per iods ,  “Noah’s Ark has prov ided l ight  amidst  the dark”.   

 

There have been wonderfu l ly  upl i f t ing moments .  We have made chi ldren’s wi shes 

come true: host ing a social ly di stance d bi r thday par ty  for  one teenager and 

faci l i tat ing the f inal  wi sh of  another . One fami ly member told the Care Team,  

“There are no words to descr ibe what  you have done for  us as a fami ly”.  

 

Many Noah’s Ark fami l ies  have faced acute social  cr i ses  wi th in th i s  t ime. 

Alongside our  c l in ical  of fer ,  the Care Team has al so he lped fami l ies to access  

f inancial  suppor t and f ree school  meals ,  even helping one fami ly  to f ind new 

accommodation su i table for  thei r  chi ld wi th di sabi l i t ies.    

 

Clinica l  Serv ices –  H ighl ights  2020/2021  

  

Dur ing th i s  per iod:  

 

  49 babies , chi ldren and young people received Special i s t  Care and Nurs ing 

at The Ark  

  82 babies , chi ldren and young people received Special i s t  Care and Nurs in g 

in the communi ty  

  30 babies ,  chi ldren and young people received Special i s t  P lay in The Ark  

  51 babies ,  chi ldren and young people  received Special i s t  P lay in the 

communi ty  

  9,334 hours of  care were provided in The Ark  

  1,468 hours of  day care were provided at The Ark  

  2,103 hours of  individual  nurse , carer  and specia l i s t  p lay vi s i ts  were 

provided in the communi ty .  

 

As  previous ly  s tated,  Covid led to the ear ly  opening of  our  chi ldren’s  bedroom 

and fami ly bedroom wings  in March 2020  and the s igni f icant curtai l i ng of  

communi ty services .  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

From October  2020,  Special i s t  Carer s  and Nurses  recommenced communi ty 

support ,  and as a resu l t ,  we were able to of fer  more care, choice and f lex ibi l i ty 

to our  fami l ies .  The nation then entered another  lockdown, however communi ty  

services continued dur ing th i s  t ime, and we offered Shor t Breaks seven days per 

week, giving fami l ies a choice of  both t iming and location. Short Breaks in  The 

Ark  became increasingly popu l ar  due to the amount of  act iv i t ies ,  faci l i t ies and 

space we could of fer .   

 

As  a resu l t ,  we created social ly di s tanced groups  for  Shor t Breaks enabl ing the 

Special i s t  Care and Nurs ing Team to see more babies , chi ldren and young people.  

Some fami l ies cont inued to sh ie ld at  home, but we remained in contact wi th them 

offer ing our  suppor t f rom afar .  Cl in ical  Services a lso hosted a Barnet Hospi tal  

Paediatr ic  Consu ltant Away Day at The Ark .  

 

The Special i s t  Care and Nurs ing team arranged for  one boy who was bedboun d 

to be wheeled outs ide in h i s  bed to enable the fami ly to spend t ime together  in  

the sunshine. Hi s  father  commented:  

 

"My son i s  safe;  the staf f  understand the r i sk s  of  h is  condit ion and manage these 

real ly wel l .  We were in i t ia l ly  worr ied about  coming her e but  we couldn’t  ask for 

anything better  for  our  son”.   

 

The mother  of  one chi ld refer red to the Special i s t  Carers  and Nurses  as  “ angels” 

providing the “ best  care poss ible” .  She a lso told the Care Qual i ty Commiss ion 

(‘CQC’) Qual i ty Audi t  profess ional  that  she was conf ident that when she was not  

in  the room wi th her  son, the Special i s t  Carers  and Nurses wou ld ant ic ipate h i s  

needs,  providing a recent example of  th i s ,  which demonstrated the ef f ic iency of  

the team, attent ion to detai l  and respect.  

 

One mother ,  who s tayed at The Ark wi th  her  two chi ldren wi th di sabi l i t ies ,  said 

afterwards , “The Ark i s  a br i l l iant  place for  us to be able to stay -  i t 's  l ike having 

a home f rom home where we know almost  everyone and where the g i r l s  love to 

be.  When we real ly neede d i t ,  The Ark was there for  us and real ly helped us  

through some tough t imes.”  

 

From March 2020 onwards , Special i s t  P lay was added to our  C l in ical  Services rota 

to respond to neonates , babies , chi ldren and young people in the most acute 

need. Th i s  inc luded suppor t ing symptom control ,  end of  l i fe and post  death care 

at The Ark . Throughout th i s  per iod, the Play team continued to suppor t fami l ies  

f lex ibly ;  v i r tual ly ,  in  The Ark and at home once restr ict ions  were l i f ted.  The reasons 

for  refer ral  to Special i s t  P lay are typ ical ly i so lat ion, s t imulat ion and 

developmental  suppor t ,  as wel l  as pre and post bereavement suppor t .  A h igh l ight 

in  ear ly 2021 , was a group sensory c inema sess ion, wi th l ight cubes, popcorn 

making and paint ing. Wi th the number  of  re fer rals  incr easing the demand for  

Special i s t  P lay suppor t  in  The Ark ,  th i s  per iod saw the f i r s t  s tages  of  the creation 

of  a Play Volunteer  team.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

“ I  have seen lot s  of  di f ferent  people and they have al l  made me feel  st ressed.  

With you i t  feel s  re laxed and I  f ind i t  eas ier  to talk .”  Family  

 

Hol i s t ic Services  

 

Overview  

Dur ing th i s  per iod Hol i s t ic  Services  de l ivered 5,661  sess ions ,  of  which 1,357  took 

place in the communi ty .  

 

Restr ict ions  of  in -person activ i ty unavoidably  led to a curtai lment of  our  Hol i s t ic  

Services for  much of  th i s  per iod. However , once restr ict ions were l i f ted, the team 

worked together  more col laborat ively than ever  to suppor t chi ldren and fami l ies .   

 

One example of  team col laborat ion saw Fami ly  Activ i t ies ,  Special i s t  Care, 

Nurs ing, Fami ly L ink and Therapies come together  to support a fami ly whose chi ld 

had died. The team provided post -death care for  the chi ld who had died,  

emotional ,  pract ical  and therapeuti c support for  the fami ly ,  chi ldcare for  a 

bereaved s ibl ing, and fami ly memory making activ i t ies .  The chi ld’s  parents were 

very gratefu l  and said they treasured thei r  s tay at The Ark , as the care staf f  “ f i l led 

i t  with love,  care and indiv idual  thoughtfulnes s " .  Before they lef t ,  the whole  fami ly 

came back together  for  a picnic ar ranged by the Noah’s Ark Cater ing Manager 

in  the Butter f ly  Su i te , to al low the fami ly to spend f ina l  qual i ty t ime together  and 

enjoy The Ark . The fami ly went home wi th a bereavement s uppor t plan in p lace 

for  the fu ture .  

 

Family L ink  

 

During this  per iod:  

  Fami ly L ink jo ined the Cl in ical  rota to de l iver  24/7 end of  l i fe care and post 

death care.  

  The Fami ly L ink team par t ic ipated in 1 ,263 interactions wi th  other  

profess ionals .  

  The Fami ly  L ink team assessed 95 new fami l ies .  

  The Fami ly L ink team provided Fami ly L ink support to 251 fami l ies ,  198 

babies , chi ldren and young people,  452 parents/carers  and 280 s ib l ings .  

  The Fami ly L ink team suppor ted 28 Noah’s Ark babies , chi ldren and young 

people who died and continued to support 67 fami l ies post bereavement.  

  ‘Fami ly Reported Outcome Measures’ cont inued to be used for  quanti tat ive 

and qual i tat ive repor t ing and 33% of  fami l ies ident i f ied that thei r  outcomes 

had improved over  the year . Th i s  perce ntage would have been higher  had 

we been able to provide a fu l l  service dur ing the Covid -19 pandemic.  
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Hol i s t ic Services (Continued)  

 

The Fami ly  L ink team continued to de l iver  practical  and emotional  suppor t and 

advice, inc luding advocacy for  hous ing, benef i ts  and education to the increasing 

number of  fami l ies we suppor t .   The complexi ty of  need has increased wi th in 

individual  fami l ies a s wel l  as across the populat ion we care for .   The team 

continued to provide bereavement suppor t to  any fami ly bereaved of  a chi ld,  

whether  or  not we have known the chi ld in  l i fe.  From March 2020, Fami ly L ink 

were added to the Cl in ical  Services rota to res pond to neonates , babies, chi ldren 

and young people in the most acute need dur ing the Covid -19 pandemic. Th i s  

inc luded suppor t ing end of  l i fe and post death care at The Ark .   

 

Noah’s Ark has a growing Designated Safeguarding Lead team which meets  

monthly and in th i s  per iod a lso included the addi t ion of  the Head of  Education 

and Development and Infect ion Prevention and Control ,  Senior  Head of  Care,  

and a Medical  Di rector .  Fami ly L ink a lso became refer ral  par tners  for  the Chi ld in  

Need Emergency Essent ial s  f und, admini st rated by the Fami ly Fund. The team 

have worked closely wi th a Wi sh char i ty to  provide an end of  l i fe chi ld wi th a 

special  le tter  f rom the Lord L ieutenant of  Hertfordshi re. The team has been 

helping fami l ies to access var ious sources  of  funding  for  funeral  costs ,  and 

helping them design Orders of  Service for  funerals ,  as wel l  as ar ranging legal  

advice wi th a hous ing sol ic i tor ,  and col lat ing suppor t ing evidence f rom the 

profess ional  network for  a fami ly whose cr i t ical ly unwel l  chi ld was in unsafe  

accommodation. The team was also successfu l  in  secur ing a long -awai ted buggy 

for  a chi ld who i s  now able to go outs ide for  the f i r s t  t ime s ince being di scharged 

f rom hospi tal .  Fami ly L ink have al so been co -ordinat ing del iver ies of  food parce ls  

and activ i ty packs  to fami l ies sh ie lding by us ing the char i ty’s  Home Support  

Volunteers .  

 

Therapies  

 

During this  per iod:  

• 127 chi ldren received 1,594 sess ions  of  Therapeutic suppor t f rom a Music 

Therapis t ,  Drama and Movement Therapist ,  Art  Therapis t  and Occupation al  

Therapis t .  

 

In  the ear ly months  of  2020, the Therapies Team continued to deve lop bespoke,  

outcome-focused suppor t through thei r  special i s t  input . The Music Therapy in -

reach service provided special i s t  suppor t  in  Great Ormond St reet Hospi tal ,  

Univers i ty Ci ty London Hospi tal  and Barnet Hospi tal .   
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Hol i s t ic Services (Continued)  

 

From March 2020 , the char i ty  fur loughed the Therapies Team for  an extended 

per iod through the Covid -19 pandemic. From mid-2020 , week ly  Zoom Music 

Therapy groups were establ i shed and the team has grown and developed some 

wonderfu l  new vi r tual  Therapy groups ,  inc luding a lunchtime movement sess ion 

for  the whole fami ly ,  a weekly Ar t  Club and two weekly deve lopmental  massage 

groups . The groups have been wel l  at tended and provide a h ighly va lued 

addi t ion to the of fer  to fami l ies .   

 

In  addi t ion, the team launched vi r tual  parent suppor t sess ions for  bereaved 

fami l ies ,  wi th fami l ies attending each week,  many of  whom have not otherwise 

been access ing regular  services f rom Noah’s  Ark .  There are plans to deve lop 

these groups in to peer  led face -to-face events .  The team planned a Bereaved 

Sibl ing event for  summer 2021 , which included creative elements  such as 

beatboxing, movement and ar t .  I n  August 2020 , bereaved parent and 

grandparent Zoom groups  were of fered to fami l ies and th i s  has led to the 

development of  fathers  tak ing thei r  own lead in developing a footbal l  team 

supported by S ANDS, meeting regular ly for  social  support .  

 

The Therapies team and Fami ly L ink led quarter ly Staf f  Memory Events –  an 

oppor tuni ty for  care s taf f  to come together  to remember the babies, chi ldr en 

and young people who have died, to ref lect  and share memor ies .  

 

Home Suppor t Volunteers  

 

During this  per iod:  

  87 fami l ies received Home Suppor t Volunteer  suppor t .   

  43 Home Support  Volunteers were matched wi th fami l ies .  

  550 sess ions tota l l ing 490 hours o f  home support were provided.  

  We increased in - reach s ibl ing crèche services for  neonatal ,  cardiac and 

general  intens ive care uni ts  at Great Ormond Street Hospi tal .  

  42 Home Suppor t Volunteers have given 196 years of  service to Noah’s Ark . 

The average length  of  t ime a home suppor t volunteer  has been suppor t ing 

fami l ies in  the communi ty i s  4 .8  years and s i x  have been Home Suppor t 

Volunteers for  over  a decade.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  

 

Hol i s t ic Services (Continued)  

 

Home Suppor t Volunteers cont inued to of fer  a range of  practical  ass i s tance for  

fami l ies ,  inc luding chi ld, young person and s ibl ing suppor t and help for  parents  

wi th day to day tasks .  From March 2020,  a l l  Home Support  Volunteer  matches  

were moved to Zoom where  poss ible .  

 

In  March 2021, Home Suppor t Volunteers returned to face -to-face vi s i ts  in  the 

communi ty . Al l  Home Suppor t Volunteers and matched fami l ies were contacted 

to see i f  they were comfortable  wi th the return to face -to-face vi s i ts .  Al l -but- three 

fami l ies agreed for  v i s i ts  to res tar t .  There has been a lot of  creativ i ty invo lved in 

terms of  making the ‘vi s i t ’  work over  the phone or  screen.  One vo lunteer  even let 

h i s  f ive-year-o ld match ‘give h im a makeover ’ .  Other  games have included 

drawing, scavenger hunts ,  s inging and dancing. I t  has been wonderfu l  to hear  

how wel l  many of  these matches  have adapted. Some of  the volunteers  have 

found that  where they were or iginal ly matched wi th a Noah’s Ark chi ld,  young 

person or  s ib l ing they have become more of  a l i s tening ear  for  thei r  parents ,  

providing emotional  suppor t .  Home Suppor t Volunteers  have a lso been col lect ing 

and de l iver ing prescr ipt ions , food parcel s  and activ i ty  packs to fami l ies who were 

sh ie lding.  

 

“Our volunteer  i s  amazing! She has done so much for  us  over  a real ly di f f icu l t  

year .  She feel s  l ike part  of  the fami ly and we wi l l  a lways remember and be 

grateful  for  her  help .”  Family  

 

“Work ing with fami l ies  i s  very grounding,  very  humbl ing.  I  can’t  ever  see mysel f  

leaving,  I  love volunteer ing!”  Volunteer  

 

Family Activ i t ies  

 

During this  per iod:  

  76 fami l ies attended Fami ly Days .  

  20 chi ldren and young people wi th l i fe l imi t ing or  l i fe -threatening condi t ions  

attended Noah’s Ark Chi ldren’s Groups.  

  66 s ib l ings accessed S ibl ing Suppor t Groups.  

  Over 220 chi ldren and young people logged into Zoom groups  each 

quar ter .   

  An average of  650 ‘Weekly Activ i ty Subscr ipt ion’  packs were provided each 

quar ter .  
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Hol i s t ic Services (Continued)  

 

In  March 2020, the char i ty fur loughed the Fami ly Activ i t ies Team for  severa l  

months .  I n  Ju ly 2020 , weekly Zoom sess ions for  Noah’s Ark babies , chi ldren, young 

people and s ibl ings , led by di f ferent enter tainers  f rom Spread a Smi le, were re -

establ i shed.  

 

“Since L  died,  L  has been ever  so lonely,  lockdown has h ighl ighted th is  even more.  

They real ly were an inseparable double act .  These sess ions,  and now the cadet  

sess ions,  have real ly g iven her  something to look forward to each week.  What  a 

pos i t ive di f ference Noah’s Ark have ma de to her  l i t t le l i fe,  I  can’t  thank you 

enough for  al l  that  you have done and al l  that  you cont inue to do.”   

Mum of L  &  L  

 

On average over  220 chi ldren and young people have logged into Zoom groups  

each quar ter  s ince they were establ i shed. ‘Week ly Activ i t y Subscr ipt ions’ were 

sent to fami l ies ,  per sonal i sed to each chi ld based on age, l i kes and abi l i ty .  Each 

week the packs  were posted to fami l ies ,  whi l s t  making sure that  every chi ld in the 

fami ly  received an activ i ty to  do in thei r  own t ime at home. On aver age 650 

‘Weekly Activ i ty  Subscr ipt ion’ packs were provided each quarter  for  fami l ies .   

 

The Char i ty ‘Spread a Smi le’ has a lso been running bi -week ly s inging and music 

sess ions . The team has planned (Government Covid -19 pandemic al lowing) 

bouncy cast les ,  laser  quest ,  sensory domes,  s l ime p lanet , pett ing zoos , c i rcus 

workshops and team bui lding, amongst other  act iv i t ies ,  as wel l  as coming to 

enter tain chi ldren and young people at The Ark .  As the team appreciate , some 

fami l ies may s t i l l  be apprehensive atten ding in-person activ i t ies ,  so al l  the above 

Zoom groups  wi l l  cont inue into the future and the Activ i ty  Subscr ipt ion wi l l  be sent 

monthly .  

 

Dur ing the fest ive per iod in 2020 the Activ i t ies Wing at The Ark became a candy 

cane themed wonder land. The ‘Den’  be came Santa’s Grotto and we had the 

capaci ty to a l low two fami l ies a day to vi s i t  wi th Santa and then spend a few 

hours us ing the Activ i t ies Wing.  For  any fami l ies that could not come, the team 

drove ‘Santa’ around in the Noah’s  Ark  van, del iver ing presents  to  fami l ies and 

vi s i t ing the chi ldren on thei r  doors tep. Over  20 fami l ies came to vi s i t  Santa in The 

Ark  wi th dozens  more being vi s i ted in the communi ty (social ly  di s tanced on the 

doors tep) in the decorated Noah’s  Ark van.  Gi f ts  for  chi ldren and s ibl ings  were 

handpicked for  a l l  those who wanted a vi s i t  or  de l ivery f rom Santa,  and fami l ies 

who were in part icular  need were of fered hampers of  food suppl ied by Morr i sons .  

The team al so he ld two in -person s ib l ing groups , where the chi ldren enjoyed us ing 

al l  of  the technology in the bui lding.  
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Hol i s t ic Services (Continued)  

 

Noah’s Ark s ib l ings have been invi ted to jo in “Noah’s Ark Cadets” where they 

earn badges each week and the whole fami ly can opt into a week ly act iv i ty that 

they can complete in thei r  own t ime, sent in  the post .   

 

“He real ly loves the Zoom meet ings,  I  hope they cont inue,  as i t ’s  not  easy to go 

to after  school  c lubs and h e feel s  th is  i s  a c lub for  h im .”   

Parent of  chi ld suppor ted by Noah’s Ark  

 

Future plans  

Future plans for  the Care Team at Noah’s Ark include:  

 

  Offer ing Cl in ical  and Hol i s t ic  end of  l i fe , pos t death and bereavement 

support  at The Ark and in the communi ty .  

  Embedding and operat ing Woodlands, our  h igh dependency Chi ldren’s 

Bedroom Wing, 24/7 ,  365 days per  year  wi th  the emphasi s  on end of  l i fe and 

the most acute need.  

  Suppor t ing fami l ies in  c l in i cal  and social  cr i s i s  through Meadows, our  

dedicated fami ly accommodation, and in the communi ty -  pr imar i ly  

fami l ies’  homes.  

  Providing c l in ical ,  ho l i s t ic , practical  and emotional  suppor t in  The Ark and 

in communi ty sett ings .  

  Growing our  neonatal  suppor t i n  local  neonatal  uni ts ,  inc luding Great 

Ormond Street Hospi ta l ,  Univers i ty Col lege London Hospi ta l ,  The Royal  Free -

Barnet Hospi tal ,  at The Ark and in the communi ty .  

  Par tnersh ips wi th adul t  hospices to explore  us ing The Ark for  t rans i t ion  

services .  

  Offer ing a wider  var iety of  Care Team led fami ly and group activ i t ies f rom 

The Ark and in the communi ty .  

  Expanding the programme of  volunteers inc luding Home Suppor t  

Volunteers ,  P lay Volunteers ,  Fami ly Activ i t ies Volunteers and The Ark 

Volunteers .   

  Implementing new I T sys tems to better  integrate care de l ivery wi th the 

National  Health  Service.  

  Establ i sh ing a Nor th London Chi ld Bereavement UK Hub at Noah’s Ark.  

  Holding more Medical ,  Cl in ical  and Hol i s t ic  Cl in ics at The Ark .  

  Using Band 4 Special i s t  Carers  i ncreasingly to suppor t wi th Nurs ing tasks e.g.  

L ine Management.  

  Appointment of  a Bereavement Co -ordinator  (Coun sel lo r ) and 

bereavement service.  

  Expansion of  Special i s t  P lay wi th a team of  Play Volunteers and P lay 

Students .   

  Continued augmenting of  the Fami ly L ink Team to ensure  capaci ty for  

managing increasing numbers of  refer ra ls .  
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Future Plans (Continued)  

 

  Expanding the Cl in ical  Team wi th addi t ional  Special i s t  Carer s  and Nurses to 

ensure that symptom management,  end of  l i fe care and post death care 

can take place wi th in both the communi ty and The Ark , whi l s t  ensur ing that  

th i s  does  not impact what Cl in ical  Services al ready of fer  to fami l ies .   

  Del ivery and expansion of  mul t ip le  Therapies including Music, Ar t ,  Drama 

and Movement, Occupational  Therapy, Phys iotherapy and Hydrotherapy.  

  Implementat ion of  new I T sys tems to enhance the ef fect iveness of  Care 

del ivery .  

 

Commissioning  

 

In  ear ly 2020 we establ i shed a Commiss ioning service in order  to help fund 

services del ivered by our  Care Team in both the communi ty and The Ark to include 

our  newly opened Woodlands (Chi ldren’s Bedroom) Wing. In the fo l lowing months ,  

we were successfu l  in  negotiat ing an 18 -month contract wi th the North  Centra l  

London Cl in ical  Commiss ioning Group. We al so worked col laborat ively wi th other  

boroughs that compr i se both the North West  London and Her ts  Va l ley C l in ical 

Commiss ioning Groups to support  refer red babies , chi ldren, young people and 

thei r  fami l ies who l ive in these areas i f  they chose our  services .  

 

We admi tted far  more c l in ical ly and social ly complex babies ,  chi ldren and young 

people than or iginal ly  intended at such an ear ly  s tage in  our  development. As  a 

resu l t ,  we have cemented and expanded a real  special i sm in end of  l i fe and post  

death care and in par t icular  the care of  neonates and those who requi re Long 

Term Venti lat ion.  We have continued to train and develop our  Nurses , Specia l i s t  

Carers  and Hol i s t ic  team to support more neonates ,  and babies , chi ldren and 

young people wi th complex condi t ions , such as those requi r ing invas ive and non -

invas ive vent i lat ion.  

 

In  tota l  we provided over  350  Woodlands bed nights (inc luding some char i t able  

n ights) in  our  f i r s t  12 months of  opening Woodlands.  Refer red neonates ,  babies ,  

chi ldren and young people came f rom al l  f ive boroughs  of  Nor th Centra l  London 

and we also suppor ted severa l  out  of  borough chi ldren in both The Ark and 

communi ty ,  in  l ine wi th our  ethos of  pr ior i t i s ing those wi th  the h ighest  need. The 

out of  borough refer ral s  were main ly  at end of  l i fe or  post death.  In  addi t ion, we 

supported communi ty rotas  for  babies , chi ldren and young people whose fami l ies  

chose for  them to die at home.  We provided end of  l i fe and/or  post death care 

for  12 babies , chi ldren or  young people and thei r  fami l ies in  th i s  per iod.  The 

exper ience of  each neonate, baby, chi ld, young person and thei r  fami ly i s  unique 

at end of  l i fe and/or  post death. Therefore , we tai lored our  services to respond 

to each fami ly’s  indiv idual  needs,  creating a bespoke of fer  of  care for  each 

fami ly .  
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Commissioning (Continued)  

 

The Barnet Shor t Breaks contract al so s tar ted in earnest .  We have provided 126 

sess ions for  over  10 chi ldren and young people who l ive in Barnet and meet the 

refer ral  cr i ter ia . Th i s  equated to 324 hours of  care dur ing the f i r s t  9  months  of  the 

contract .  These sess ions included activ i t ies af ter  school ,  at  weekends and dur ing 

the school  hol idays as  wel l  as  act iv i t ies  over  Zoom. We are looking forward to 

expanding our  act iv i t ies and s igning up more chi ldren and young people who l ive 

in Barnet in  the coming year .  

 

We developed a h ighly coordinated approach f rom the whole Care Team who 

worked close ly wi th  the Commiss ioning team. We had to establ i sh new ways  of  

work ing once we opened The Ark , not only due to Covid -19 ,  when many 

employees were work ing f rom home, bu t also to take into account our  Special i s t  

Carers ’  and Nurses ’ sh i f t  patterns . We qu ick ly establ i shed new procedures 

including twice weekly ‘ Admiss ions Meetings’ which ran a longside our  internal  

biweekly ‘Pathway Meeting’ to di scuss caseloads  and refer ral s  and to keep in  

touch and coordinate.  We work hard in the char i ty to communicate ef fect ively –  

as of ten we deal  wi th chi ldren whose s i tuat ions change rapidly and involve many 

conversat ions wi th mul t ip le profess ionals  as wel l  as the chi ld and thei r  fami ly .  

 

The Commiss ioning team are very gratefu l  for  a l l  the support  we have received 

f rom The Care Team-Special i s t  Care and Nurs ing, Special i s t  P lay, Fami ly L ink , 

Therapies , Fami ly Activ i t ies ,  Home Suppor t Volunteer ing and our  new Medical  

Di rectors .  Wi thout  ever yone pul l ing together  and adapting our  work ing patterns ,  

of ten at  short  not ice,  we would not  have been able  to provide so many unique 

and memorable  exper iences for  such a large and var ied number of  neonates ,  

babies , chi ldren, young people and thei r  fami l ie s .  We are par t icular ly  thankfu l  

over  th i s  per iod for  the exceptional  c l in ical  and hol i s t ic  sk i l l s  and proactive 

att i tude of  our  extraordinary Special i s t  Carer s  and Nurses who were stretched to 

thei r  l imi t s  on mul t ip le  occasions  dur ing the Covid -19 cr i s i s ,  but who tr iumphed 

t ime and again to prov ide exemplary  care to our  babies , chi ldren, young people 

and thei r  fami l ies .   

 

ORGANISATIONAL PRIORIT IES FOR 2021/2  

 

Going forward , and wi th lockdown restr ict ions eas ing, we expect that more of  

our  fami l ies wi l l  fee l  conf ident enough to leave thei r  homes and v i s i t  The Ark to 

access more of  our  services . Whi le our  Zoom sess ions have been successfu l  and 

wi l l  cont inue, we ant ic ipate that these wi l l  reduce in the coming months and be 

replaced wi th more face-to-face contact . The same appl ies to our  c l in ical  and 

hol i s t ic  communi ty and ‘Barnet Shor t Breaks’  act iv i t ies .  We expect more of  these 

activ i t ies to occur  in  The Ark and in the communi ty and fewer on Zoom.  
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Organisational  pr ior i t ies for  2021/2 (continued)  

 

We wi l l  a lso formal i se our  booking procedure.  In  the past months we have been 

reactive,  pr ior i t i s ing the h ighest need. Covid -19 also had a mater ial  impact on 

our  capaci ty , which meant that we were unable to book overnight stays too far  

in  advance. Going fo rward we aim to be less  reactive, wi l l  book in more planned 

cl in ical  and hol i s t ic  services across the year  and balance th i s  whi l s t  responding 

to end of  l i fe , post death, c l in ical  and socia l  cr i s i s ,  which typical ly  necess i tates 

longer s tays at The Ark  or  a longer rota created in the communi ty .  

 

At  the same t ime, the Special i s t  Care and Nurs ing team, together  wi th the 

Medical  Di rectors  and Commiss ioning team, wi l l  keep in c lose contact wi th our  

key local  hospi ta ls  and care providers in  order  to respond to wi der  capaci ty  

i ssues . We have been informed of  a projected increase in respi ratory infect ions 

occurr ing ear l ier  than usual  in  the seasonal  calendar .  We wi l l  cont inue to 

communicate ef fect ively to respond to increased demand wi th other  hospi tal  

and par tner  requests  for  end of  l i fe, post death, s tep down, c l in ical  or  social  cr i s i s .   

 

We wi l l  cont inue our  comprehensive induction, t rain ing and development 

programme, overseen by our  Senior  Head of  Education and Development 

(Registered Nurse) , to ensure that out S pecial i s t  Care and Nurs ing Team are as  

h ighly  t rained, competent  and conf ident as  poss ib le , inc luding jo int oppor tuni t ies  

wi th our  par tner  hospices and hospi tal s  such The Royal  Brompton.  We are very  

gratefu l  to  thei r  Specia l i s ts  who provided extens ive trai n ing on tracheostomy and 

vent i lat ion f ree of  charge. Not only did they teach the c l in ical  sk i l l s ,  but we al so 

received train ing on the di f ferent technologies that our  chi ldren and young 

people use.  Th i s  ensured that we could continue to care c l in ical ly for  babies ,  

chi ldren and young people in our  catchments wi th  the most severe respi ratory 

condi t ions , and al so that we are trained on thei r  var ious di f ferent vent i lator s .  We 

also appreciate our  peers at Great Ormond Street Hospi ta l  who provide suppor t 

wi th symptom management and syr inge dr iver  t rain ing and at Barnet Hospi tal  

who provide us wi th a Medical  Cover  and Pharmacy Service Leve l  Agreement.  

 

Another  area of  focus i s  to work more c losely wi th our  local  Continuing Care and 

Communi ty Nurs ing teams. We woul d l i ke to of fer  employee rotat ions , share 

train ing and continue to suppor t each other  on chi ldren’s  communi ty  rotas . Th i s  

i s  al ready tak ing place for  chi ldren at end of  l i fe,  but we would l i ke to expand 

th i s  fur ther  –  in  par t icular  where fami l ies are known  to each of  us .   Th i s  wi l l  provide 

continui ty of  care for  our  babies , chi ldren and young people as they s tep down 

f rom hospi tal  and trans i t ion (via The Ark where necessary) back home. I t  i s  worth  

not ing that we can also of fer  out -patient c l in ics at The Ark . The same profess ionals  

who see our  chi ldren in hospi tal  have successfu l ly  s tarted holding thei r  c l in ics at 

The Ark .  
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Organisational  pr ior i t ies for  2021/2 (continued)  

 

Th i s  reduces trave l  and stress  for  our  fami l ies and a l lows our  chi ldren and thei r  

fami l ies to access our  faci l i t ies around ei ther  s ide of  thei r  appointments .    

 

We are al so work ing wi th several  Commiss ioners and  Cl in ical  Commiss ioning 

Groups outs ide Nor th Central  London to secure more statutory funded contracts ,  

along the l ines of  our  North  Centra l  London contract .  We would al so l i ke to extend 

our  Barnet Short Breaks contract to other  boroughs wi th in North Centra l  London 

to provide more activ i t ies to more chi ldren and young p eople who meet our  

cr i ter ia.  

 

We are conf ident that  more neonates , babies , chi ldren and young people in our  

boroughs , and those in adjacent ones ,  wi l l  choose to use more of  our  services  

once Covid-19 abates . We have recru i ted, and continue to recru i t ,  more h igh 

cal ibre Special i s t  Carers ,  Nur ses , Social  Workers ,  Fami ly L ink Worker s  and Hol i s t ic  

Team members and we are support ing them and thei r  peers wi th  continued and 

extens ive train ing and development. S taf f  wel lbeing and retent ion, whi l s t  

del iver ing best p ractice i s  h igh on our  agenda. We are exci ted to of fer  more 

hol i s t ic  and cl in ical  care to include overnight  s tays ,  day services ,  advocacy and 

therapies , balanced wi th a rapid, co -ordinated response to neonates , babies , 

chi ldren and young people in the most  immediate and acute need,  th i s  year  and 

into the future .  

 

In  Ju ly 2021 the Board attended an Away Day wi th the Senior  Leadersh ip Team 

and agreed a new Vi s ion, a new Miss ion and a three-year  organisat ional  s t rategy.  

The focus  of  th i s  work has been around u nmet need and ensur ing the organisat ion 

i s  ready to meet the needs of  the babies , chi ldren and young people who wi l l  

requi re chi ldren’s hosp ice services in  the future.  We be l ieve many fami l ies  do not  

access services at any ear ly enough point ,  due to fear  a bout facing the real i ty  

of  a l i fe l imi t ing or  l i fe-threatening diagnos i s ,  and also because they are not  

aware of  the services that  we offer .  A big par t of  our  work therefore needs to be 

around education and ensur ing our  care i s  of fered at the point of  diag nosi s .  

 

A fur ther  focus of  our  work i s  to provide c l in ical  and hol i s t ic  services to ensure 

every baby, chi ld and young person we suppor t (and thei r  fami l ies)  i s  able  to 

make the most  of  every day. We real i se for  some th i s  may be a smal l  intervent ion 

but for  other s  th i s  could be vi ta l  support  at end of  l i fe or  respi te for  fami l ies w ho 

need extra suppor t .  Our  services wi l l  wrap around the fami ly and ensure everyone 

i s  cared for .  

 

We have ident i f ied four  key object ives to our  st rategy which we bel ieve wi l l  

ensure we reach the babies , chi ldren and young people who need our  support 

and ensure “No chi ld lef t  behind” , which wi l l  be a strapl ine wi th in our  new 

strategy.  
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Object ive One  

To suppor t  s ign i f icantly  more chi ld ren,  and their  loved ones,  who would  benef i t  

most  f rom Noah’s Ark’s  care  

With over  2 ,400 babies , chi ldren and young people who could be benef i t  f rom 

our  support ,  we are determined to grow  at pace to ensure that no chi ld i s  lef t  

behind.  

 

Object ive Two 

To set a new s tandard for  chi ldren’s pal l ia t ive care  

As  a provider  of  care for  babies ,  chi ldren and young people who are unstable , 

deter iorat ing or  dying,  we are reso lved to s tr ive for  excel le nce in al l  that we do 

and partner  wi th key London hospi tal s  to fu l f i l  our  miss ion.  

 

Object ive Three  

To at tract  and retain the best  

We wi l l  become sector - renowned as an employer  of  choice by bui lding a 

dynamic, suppor t ive and inclus i ve envi ronment in which the Noah’s  Ark  team can 

do thei r  best work.  

 

Object ive Four  

To develop a sus tainable funding model  

With the advent of  acute c l in ical  care at the Ark , we wi l l  diver s i fy our  income by 

establ i sh ing funding re lat ionships wi th NHS Cl in ical  Commiss ioning Groups.  

 

The object ives are now being developed fur ther  and a l igned wi th our  budgets for  

the next  f inancial  year . We plan to publ i sh detai led p lans to suppor t our  new 

three year organisat ional  st rategy in the spr ing of  2022 .  

 

FUNDRAISING & COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The Char i ty  has been a regi stered member  of  the Fundrai s ing Regulator  s ince 

December 2016 and i s  guided by the Fundrai s ing Code of  Pract ice. I t  has st r ict  

internal  contro ls  to moni tor  volunteer  fundrai sers  who rai se money on behalf  of  

the Char i ty .  S ince regi st rat ion and including the cur rent and the pr ior  per iod, 

Noah’s Ark has received no formal complaints  f rom donors ,  but a robust sys tem i s  

in  place to moni tor  and respond to any complaints  should they ar i se. The Char i ty 

does not engage an external  Fundrai ser .  

 

Th i s  f inancial  per iod was one of  great f lux but al so a very  s igni f icant success  for  

the Fundrai s ing & Market ing team.  
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Team 

 

After  more than s i x  very successfu l  years  as Noah's  Ark ' s  Di rector  of  Income 

Generat ion and Communications , Al i son Goodman lef t  th i s  post to take on the 

newly created role of  Deputy Chief  Executive at the char i ty ,  wi th Anthony 

Hayman now leading the Fundra i s ing and Communications divi s ion.   

 

In  order  to he lp preserve the char i ty ' s  reserves  and in l ight  of  l imi tat ions  on 

fundrai s ing activ i ty ,  in  Apr i l  we took the di f f icu l t  decis ion to fur lough s i x  members 

of  the team for  much of  the per iod, wi th planned recr u i tment for  two roles paused 

indef in i te ly . Three members of  the team were redeployed and one was made 

redundant. As  the out look improved, thankfu l ly  we were able to welcome three 

new col leagues to the team.  

 

Performance 

 

Wi th our  £13.5m Bui lding The Ark Appeal conc luded, our  pre -pandemic voluntary 

income forecast was £3.3m. Th i s  was reduced to £2 .8m once Covid -19 struck .  

Indeed, numerous in -person fundrai s ing events  were cancel led, inc luding two 

major  fundrai s ing gala dinners planned by s igni f icant suppor t er s  of  the char i ty .  

Thankfu l ly ,  forecasts  were very s igni f icant ly exceeded, he lping to secure the 

char i ty ' s  f inancial  s tabi l i ty.  Key to th i s  success were three appeals :   

 

-  Coronavirus emergency appeal:  

 

In  the ear ly  months of  Covid -19 , we ran an emergency appeal ,  wi th  over  £450 ,000 

donated to the char i ty . We would l i ke to of fer  part icular  thanks to The Betty  

Messenger Char i table Foundation and The Kar lsson Ját iva Char i table Foundation 

for  thei r  large grants  which were pivotal  to enabl ing continued care for  chi ldren 

and fami l ies dur ing th i s  per iod.  

 

-  Keep Noah’s Ark Af loat campaign :  

 

Th i s  campaign, which focused on a f i lm s tar r ing the voice of  actor  Peter  Capaldi ,  

wi th inspi rat ional  shots  f rom The Ark , resu l ted in over  1 ,000 suppor ters  donating 

over  £115,000 , 99% of  whom had never  previous ly suppor ted  the Char i ty . The 

campaign generated s igni f icant media and social  media buzz . Over  40 pieces of  

press  coverage were secured, inc luding pieces on BBC London, in  the Dai ly  Mai l  

and on Talk  Sport .  Social  media sup port was of fered by h igh prof i le names, 

inc luding Harry Kane, Gary Nevi l le , Glenn Hoddle, Zoe Bal l  and Emma Bunton . A 

paid social  media campaign reached an addi t ional  65 ,000 people across  the 

country .  
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-  Moments That Matter  campaign:  

 

Th i s  campaign was the most successfu l  in  the char i ty’s  h i story .  I n  just  36  hours  we 

received donations f rom over  5 ,500 suppor ter s .  The success of  the campaign was 

thanks to our  backers  who provided a s igni f icant matching fund,  and our  189 

Team Leaders ,  who fundrai sed t i re less ly .  The campaign generated an 

unparal le led social  medi a response, wi th the campaign f i lm watched 53 ,400 t imes 

on Twi tter .  

 

Hugely  generous pro bono suppor t f rom The 10 Group was pivotal  towards  the 

success of  both the Keep Noah’s Ark Af loat and Moments That Matter  campaigns .  

 

Looking ahead  

 

The char i ty completed a rebrand which took  place in September 2021 . The key 

aims of  the rebrand are to help enable greater  access to Noah’s Ark ’s  services  

for  more neonates , babies, chi ldren and young people, and to provide a more 

di st inct i ve and approachable vi sual  ident i ty .  Th i s  inc ludes an overhaul  of  the 

char i ty’s  websi te and social  media strategy.  

 

Whi l s t  cont inu ing to bui ld suppor t f rom major  donors ,  t rusts  and bus inesses , the 

team wi l l  be placing a renewed focus on gain ing ongoing monthly support f rom 

a larger  supporter  base. The new brand wi l l  support th i s  p lanned divers i f icat ion 

of  income, as wi l l  our  p lan to move to a new CRM database,  which wi l l  automate 

many admini s t rat ive processes and enable improved and more tai lored suppor ter  

communications .  

 

HUMAN RESOURCES AND PEOPLE DEVELOPMENT  

 

We cannot underest imate the impact that Coronavi rus has ha d on the Char i ty’s  

workforce: employees and volunteers .  

 

The major i ty of  non-care staf f  were fur loughed for  several  months and there were 

restructures and redundancies in  the HR Department and in the Fundrai s ing and 

Communications Team where the pandemic h ad jeopardi sed whole swathes of  

fundrai s ing activ i ty .  The staf f ,  predominant ly in  the Care Team who continued to 

work did so under t ight infect ion control  procedures at The Ark and al so by 

adapting work practices to engage chi ldren and fami l ies  safely  f rom  home. Home 

work ing s taf f  were given I T equipment and soft  phone technology to ensure the 

Char i ty was able to operate ef fect ive ly despi te the considerable chal lenges .  
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Human Resources and People Development (Cont inued)  

 

The volunteer  workforce was forced to suspend thei r  dut ies apart f rom Home 

Suppor t Volunteers who continued to suppor t fami l ies through the pandemic by 

of fer ing Zoom cal l s  and practical  non -contact suppor t where poss ible. Noah’s  

Ark  volunteers are fundamental  to the Char i ty’s  growth and sustainabi l i ty :  

support ing our  fami l ies ,  work ing a longside staf f  in  support funct ions and 

fundrai s ing.  Keen to get volunteer ing back to pre -pandemic leve ls  i s  a  Char i ty  

pr ior i ty ;  and the appointment of  a Volunteer  Development Manager  to grow and 

develop the Char i ty’s  volunteer ing programme has been welcomed.  The Trus tees  

and staf f  of fer  thei r  gratefu l  thanks to al l  our  vo lunteers who give up thei r  t ime to 

help the Char i ty  achieve i ts  goals  and who have s tayed wi th  us dur ing the 

enforced per iod of  non-activ i ty .  

 

The UK shor tage of  paediatr ic  pal l iat ive care nurses has presented a great  

chal lenge to the Char i ty th i s  year . Nurse recru i tment has been very di f f icu l t  and 

the Char i ty cont inues to f ind ways to attract and retain a special i sed workforce 

e.g. of fer ing the NHS pension and adopting an equivalent Agenda for  Change 

pay scale , especial ly to ensure our  c l in ical  se rvices are fu l ly  operat ional .    

 

The ef fects of  the pandemic h ave unsett led the country’s  workforce and Noah’s 

Ark i s  no exception. The Char i ty i s  doing a l l  i t  can to ensure al l  s taf f  feel  happy, 

supported and sett led in thei r  ro les  through staf f  surveys ,  the Wel lbeing 

programme, Mental  Heal th F i r s t  Aiders  and the em ployee forum.  

 

The Char i ty was a lso proactive in terms of  secur ing Covid -19 vaccines for  our  staf f  

and our  vo lunteers through Barnet hospi ta l .  We are now promoting a programme 

of  Covid-19 Boosters  among staf f  and vo lunteers ,  which i s  repor t ing s trong take  

up. We are al so gratefu l  to Centinel  Medical  Care for  providing the f lu  vaccine 

for  s taf f  pro bono.  

 

Remuneration for  S taf f  

 

The pay of  the Senior  Leadersh ip Team and staf f  i s  reviewed annual ly by the 

Remunerat ion subcommi ttee and benchmarked against the mid -range point for  

s imi lar  char i t ies .   The Remunerat ion subcommittee ensures pay par i ty for  the 

workforce.  

 

Fol lowing the end of  the f inancial  per iod under review, the Char i ty took the 

decis ion to transfer  the whole Care Team to the NHS’s Agenda for  Change (outer)  

salary scale and opt our  nurses into the NHS Pens ion scheme. Th i s  should promote 

better  staf f  retent ion and ensure par i ty for  future Care Team recru i tment.  

 

Detai l s  of  re lated party t ransactions are di sc losed in the notes .  
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FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 

The resu l ts  for  the 15 months ended 31 March 2021 are set out  on page 41 .  

 

  

Total income 

 

Expenditure 

2021 

Surplus 

2019 

Surplus 

£     

Charity 7,672,307 

 

4,044,795 

 

3,627,512 

 

3,353,344 

 

The overal l  net surplus for  the 15 month per iod amounted to £3 ,627 ,512 (12 months  

to December 2019:  £3,354,344) .  

 

Noah’s Ark Trading ceased operat ions  in  2019.  

 

The Bui lding the Ark  Appeal was completed in 2019 when the char i ty  formal ly  

t ransfer red in to and opened The Ark .  

 

The company’s memorandum and art ic les of  associat ion s tr ict ly  prohibi t  the 

payment of  any divi dends.     

 

Whi le  2019 was a l l  about complet ing the bui ld of  The Ark  and f i t t ing i t  out , 2020 

was focused on opening i t  up in order  to provide services to the babies , chi ldren 

and young people who meet our  cr i ter ia.   

 

In  the 15 months ended 31 March 2021, total  char i ty income was £7 ,672 ,307 . Th i s  

was 19% above the pr ior  per iod.  When excluding funds  rai sed through our  Bu i lding 

The Ark Appeal (which substant ive ly f in i shed at the of  2019) , vo luntary donation 

income increased to £5.3m (excluding Gi f t  Aid) f rom  £2.7m (excluding Gi f t  Aid) 

which was  a real  achievement in such di f f icu l t  c i rcumstances,  when many of  our  

act iv i t ies and events had to be cancel led due to Covid -19 . I t  i s  s t i l l  the case that 

the bulk  of  our  income, 7 4% in the per iod, was der ived f rom voluntary donations  

including Gi f t  Aid. However , we were also fortunate to have received in excess  

of  £1.7m in Government Covid -19 funding for  hospices , fur lough grants and other  

Covid-19 re lated grant income. Our  newly o pened Woodlands Wing and other  

hospice services generated £220 ,264 in the per iod (2019: £ni l ) .   

 

Despi te the increase in income, total  expendi ture remained wi th in budgeted (and 

reforecast) levels .  Th i s  was even af ter  a (p lanned) more than doubl ing of  our  

depreciat ion charge fol lowing the complet ion and opening of  The Ark . Lower  

than ant ic ipated costs  are attr ibutable to s taf f  vacancies in  our  Care Team, lower 

staf f  costs  in  some areas  due to a smal l  number of  non -Care staf f  redundancies  

and a depar tmental  restructur ing, fewer event costs  (caused by cancel led events  

due to Covid-19) and a dec l ine in t ravel  and subs i s tence and re lated costs  due 

to many staf f  work ing f rom home, as  wel l  as s t r ict cost control  across al l  areas  of  

the Char i ty .  
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Financial  rev iew (cont inued)  

 

We a lso fur loughed some 35% of  staf f  at the star t  of  the Covid -19 pandemic. In 

order  to suppor t and retain these s taf f  members after  the pandemic eased, the 

Trustees decided to top up the fur lough to 100% of  salary dur ing the fur lough 

per iod.  Other  than a smal l  number of  redundancies  and leavers ,  we gradual ly 

brought al l  other  fur loughed staf f  back to work before the end of  the 15 month 

per iod.  

 

Total  expendi ture a lso includes our  char i table  activ i t ies .  The total  cost of  

char i table  activ i t ies ( i .e.  del iver ing Care to our  chi ldren and running The Ark)  rose 

by 49% to £3 ,299 ,028,  ref lect ing the fact that  we formal ly opened The Ark in  

September 2019 . Total  char i tab le activ i t ies account for  82% of  total  costs ,  up f rom 

71% last year . Staf f  salar ies account for  71% of  the total  char i table activ i t ies costs .    

 

Reserves  Pol icy  

 

The Trus tees have reviewed the reserves  pol icy in l ight of  the opening of  The Ark 

(and the need to recru i t  and retain more Care s taf f ,  in  part icular  nurses) .  They 

have al so considered the ef fect of  Covid -19  on our  Char i ty speci f ical ly and the 

impact on the wider  economy. Wi th  th i s  in  mind, they maintain a cautious out look 

for  2021/22. The impact o f  the pandemic has been widespread and has yet to  

fu l ly  abate. Th i s  means that the Char i ty remains cautious about holding events ,  

par t icu lar ly wi th large numbers of  individuals .  I n  addi t ion, we are mindfu l  of  the 

extraordinary generos i ty  of  our  donors dur i ng 2020 , some of  which may not be 

repeated at the same leve l  in  the coming year .  

 

The Trus tees conc luded that our  reserves pol icy should be amended to maintain 

a min imum of  6 -9 months of  unrestr icted f ree reserves to enable the unrestr icted 

operat ing acti v i t ies of  the Char i ty to continue. Unrestr icted f ree reserves  total led 

£3,703 ,463 as at 31 March 2021. Future expendi ture in the 2021/22 budget (before 

depreciat ion) i s  es t imated at £4m. Hence, th i s  equates to 11 months of  

unrestr icted f ree reserves  cover .  At  the t ime of  s igning the s tatutory accounts ,  

the Trus tees  cons ider  the level  of  total  cash resources  to be adequate for  the 

Char i ty’s  needs.  

  

The Trus tees decided to des ignate £965 ,125 dur ing the per iod. Th i s  re lated to 4  

key areas ; £148,125 was des ignated to increase the f i xed asset fund which 

speci f ical ly  re lates to the hospice bui lding,  inc luding f i xtures  and f i t t ings , and the 

external  landscape, £157,000 was des ignated for  essent ial  c l in ical  equipment for  

The Ark and adaptat ions to the bui lding,  £ 510,000 was des ignated for  digi tal  

t ransformation to improve supporter  engagement over  the coming three -year  

st rategic per iod and ref resh the Noah’s  Ark  brand and £150 ,000 was des ignated 

for  c l in ical  support –  speci f ical ly a mult i –year  contract wi th our  ke y local  hospi ta l  

in  Barnet for  24/7 paediatr ic  consu ltant cover  and pharmacy support .  
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F inancial  Review (Cont inued)  

 

F inancial  Sus tainabi l i ty  and Going Concern  

 

Dur ing the 15 months under  review, the Char i ty carr ied out three very successfu l  

fundrai s ing appeals .  These campaigns rai sed s igni f icant funds for  the Char i ty . I n 

addi t ion,  we received considerable Government Covid -19 funding for  hospices  

and other  speci f ic  Covid-19 funding.  We also fur loughed over  a th i rd of  the staf f  

resu l t ing in a s igni f icant fur lough grant .  

 

Whi le we had to cancel  our  gala dinner  and many chal lenge events ,  individuals ,  

t rus ts  and major  donors very generous ly suppor ted our  vi ta l  work . Thei r  support 

al lowed us to open The Ark ear l ier  than p lanned in response to Covid -19 and 

provide a wide range of  comprehensive care,  part icular ly  at end of  l i fe to 12 

chi ldren and thei r  fami l ies .  The Char i ty ended the per iod in a st rong f inancia l  

pos i t ion  wi th unrestr icted f ree rese rves  of  £3.7m. Th i s  equates  to 11 months of  

unrestr icted f ree reserves  cover .  

 

Af ter  the end of  the per iod, dur ing November 2021, the matched funding appeal ,  

‘No Chi ld Left  Behind’ ensured that the Char i ty wi l l  be f inancial ly robust for  the 

next 12 months ,  based on our  f inancial  forecast .  Based on our  work wi th local  

commiss ioners to accept chi ldren f rom adjacent geographical  areas , our  newly 

agreed geographical  boundar ies between Noah’s Ark and our  fe l low hospices  

mean that  we ant ic ipate that  our  hospice g rant  wi l l  increase again next year .  

The Trus tees therefore  consider  that we have suf f ic ient cash resources for  the 

future operat ing needs of  the Char i ty and remain a going concern.  

 

R isk Management  

 

Noah’s  Ark  has developed i t s  formal  r i sk  management proc ess  through the 

ident i f icat ion and management of  r i sk  by the Senior  Leadersh ip Team and the 

respective subcommi ttees .  The r i sk  process  covers st rategic and operat ional  r i sk .   

The Trus tees review al l  s igni f icant r i sk  and mi t igat ion throughout the year  and are 

sat i s f ied that the process and sys tems developed are in place to manage 

identi f ied r i sks  to an acceptable level .  

 

Four  key potent ial  r i sks  have been ident i f ied, together  wi th measures to mi t igate 

the ef fects .  These are:  

 

  Financial  r isk– the longer term impact of  the Coronavi rus pandemic remains 

largely unknown. We are gratefu l  that s igni f icant  Government funding was 

received in the per iod. The Trus tees are continuing to moni tor  cash f low 

regular ly .  

  Potentia l  fa i lu re  in  heal thcare del ivery –Noah’s Ark conducts  s t rong 

governance and accident , inc ident , compl iment and complaint repor t ing 

-  which i s  al so analysed on a month ly basi s  to ident i fy speci f ic  themes.  

Act ion i s  then taken to learn f rom the analys i s .   Fur thermore, the sk i l l - set of  

the Care Team i s  revi ewed in l ine wi th CQC guidel ines.  
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R isk Management (Continued)  

 

  Staf f  recrui tment,  re tention and development -we have comprehensive 

plans in  order  to recru i t  more s taf f .  These include adver ts  and the use of  

recru i tment agencies for  substant ive and agency s taf f ,  p lans to bols ter  our  

bank staf f  and an adver t i s ing and market ing s trategy for  recru i tment. In 

terms of  retent ion and development of  s taf f  there are robu st engagement 

and development plans and continued review of  s taf f  benef i ts  are 

conducted by the Char i ty in  order  to ensure  staf f  fu l f i lment  and retent ion.   

A s taf f  and vo lunteer  survey was carr ied out  at the s tar t  of  2020 and has  

been repeated in 2021 .  We have establ i shed a regular  employee forum and 

re inforced month ly meetings between each s taf f  member and thei r  

immediate manager .  The consequent r i sk  to s tatutory income f rom 

vacancies in  the Care Team i s  a lso regu lar ly moni tored.  

 

  Infection r i sk f rom Covid-19 among s taf f  and the babies ,  ch i ldren and young 

people we care for–s tr ict infect ion control  procedures  and report ing are in 

place. R i sk  assessments and procedures to min imise the impact of  

coronavi rus in  The Ark and potent ial  spread among staf f  and serv ice users  

are reviewed regu lar ly and updated, par t icular ly  as Government guidel ines  

have changed. Al l  s taf f  have been regular ly tes t ing and vi s i tors  to  The Ark  

have been tested on ar r ival .    

 

The impact of  the Covid -19 cr i s i s  was s igni f icant on the Char i ty  sector  and 

hospices were no exception. We s trove to provide a comprehensive service to a 

larger  number of  chi ldren at a t ime when vo luntary income was s igni f icant ly  

impacted. We prudent ly reduced our  donation income budget .  Despi te th i s  we 

have worked closely wi th the NHS, our  commiss ioners and local  author i t ies to  

access  s tatutory funding.  The Government Covid -19  appeal  provided t imely  

f inancial  suppor t through several  monthly grant payments to help us provide vi tal  

support  to maintain our  services dur ing  a di f f icu l t  t ime.   

 

STRUCTURE,  GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT  

 

Noah’s Ark –  The Chi ldren’s Hospice i s  regi stered as a Char i ty wi th the Char i ty  

Commiss ion for  England and Wales .  I t  i s  a char i table company l imi ted by 

guarantee wi th no share capi tal  and i t  i s  g overned by i ts  Memorandum and 

Ar t ic les of  Associat ion which were revi sed on 31 Ju ly 2018 .  The l iab i l i ty of  each 

member in the event  of  winding up i s  l imi ted to a maximum of  £1 .   

 

In  accordance wi th i ts  Ar t ic les of  Associat ion,  there shal l  be no fewer tha n three 

di rectors  at  any one t ime. The Di rectors ,  who are also the Char i ty  Trus tees  and 

the members , are normal ly appointed by a Board reso lut ion, but  may al so be 

appointed by an ordinary resolut ion passed by the members . No di rector  receives 

remunerat ion f rom the Char i ty .   
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S tructure,  Governance and Management (Continued)  

 

New Trus tees are appointed in accordance wi th the Trus tee Recru i tment pol icy 

and af ter  an in terview wi th at least the Chai rman, Chief  Execut ive and other  

Trustees . They are inducted in to the Char i ty through a ser ies of  br ief ings by senior  

management and vi s i ts  to the organisat ion, wi th the oppor tuni ty  to meet al l  

employees .  New Trus tees are  provided wi th copies of  recent s tatutory accounts ,  

key internal  documents such as board repor ts ,  internal  s t ructure and governance 

documents , in  addi t ion to market ing an d communications  brochures and copies  

of  re levant  Char i ty  Commiss ion l i terature ,  such as  ‘The Essent ial  Trustee’ .  The 

Board aims to ensure that  there i s  a good balance of  Trustees who are diverse in 

nature . Th i s  faci l i tates proper di scuss ion and enhances d ecis ion-making. Trus tees 

come f rom di f ferent backgrounds and have a wide var iety  of  careers and 

exper ience.  

 

Four  T rus tees  ret i red f rom the Trus tee board dur ing the per iod under review – 

namely David Lazarus ,  Treasurer ,  David Greenhalgh - Todd, Ni lesh  Jeth wa and 

Jonathan Rose.  The Char i ty  would s incerely  l i ke to thank each of  them for  thei r  

s igni f icant contr ibut ions .  

 

The Char i ty was successfu l  in  recru i t ing four  new Trus tees dur ing the per iod –  

R ichard Amat,  who has worked wi th the Char i ty over  severa l  yea rs  as a f inance 

and s trategy vo lunteer , as  Treasurer ;  Paul  Pomroy, who has suppor ted the Char i ty  

through hi s  ro le at McDonald’s which generous ly ins tal led the profess ional  k i tchen 

in The Ark ;  Michel le  Mendelsson who has  also been a donor and supporter  of  

Noah’s Ark over  severa l  years and Dr  Sanj iv Pate l ,  who br ings a wealth of  c l in ical  

and re levant practical  exper ience in h i s  ro le as CEO of  a Healthcare organisat ion.  

These new Trus tees each s i t  on one or  more subcommi ttee as wel l  as attending 

Trustee meet ings .  

 

Trustees under take regular  t rain ing , inc luding attendance at internal  meetings ,  

br ief ings and Trus tee away days . Trustees  a lso attend re levant  external  t rain ing.  

Trustees are suppl ied wi th the ‘Char i ty Governance Code’ and the Board ensures  

that they take thei r  responsibi l i t ies towards the governance of  the Char i ty 

ser ious ly .  Th i s  inc ludes adherence to re levant  legi s lat ion and regu lat ions  as wel l  

as implementing pol ic ies to ensure the Char i ty’s  object ives are met and the 

h ighest s tandards  of  governan ce are maintained. Th i s  inc ludes  regu lar  

attendance at Trustee meetings and subcommi ttees which meet quarter ly ,  led by 

Trustees and suppor ted by appropr iate members of  the Senior  Leadersh ip Team, 

and are:  

 

  Finance, Audi t ,  Non-Cl in ical  Governance, Investmen t and Non-Cl in ical  R i sk 

Subcommi ttee  

  Care and Cl in ical  Governance Subcommi ttee  

  People, Rewards and HR Subcommittee  

  Income Generat ion and Communications Subcommi ttee  

  Remunerat ion Subcommi ttee  
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S tructure,  Governance and Management (Continued)  

 

There are up to s i x  fu l l  Board meetings per  year , a l though the Board has been 

meeting more f requent ly s ince the s tart  of  the coronavi rus pandemic to deal  wi th 

the unprecedented s i tuat ion.   

 

Delegat ion and decis ion making  

 

In  terms of  decis ion making,  operat ional  decis ions are taken by the Senior  

Leadersh ip Team. The Senior  Leadersh ip Team compr i ses the Chief  Executive and 

the Char i ty’s  four  senior  di rector s  (Care,  Income Generat ion,  F inance a nd People  

& Operat ions /Deputy CEO).  Key decis ions may al so be taken in conjunction wi th  

speci f ic  employees  where they have special i s t  knowledge or  exper ience.  The 

Senior  Leadersh ip Team has  typical ly met three t imes per  week and was in 

contact on a dai ly  bas i s  dur ing the s tart  of  the Coronavi rus pandemic. Strategic 

in i t iat ives , approval  of  the annual  budget, management accounts and s tatutory 

accounts ,  as wel l  as senior  appointments are some of  the key matters  di scussed 

at the re levant subcommittees and ta ken to the Board of  Trus tees for  approval  

and s ign of f  as appropr iate.   

 

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES RESPONSIBIL IT IES  

 

The Trus tees , who are also Di rectors  of  the char i table company, are responsible 

for  prepar ing thei r  repor t and the f inancial  s tatements in  ac cordance wi th  

appl icable law and regulat ions .  

 

Company Law requi res the Trustees to prepare f inancial  s tatements for  each 

f inancial  year .  Under that law the Trustees have elected to prepare the f inancial  

statements in  accordance wi th  Uni ted Kingdom Genera l ly  Accepted Accounting 

Practice.   The f inancial  s tatements are requi red by law to give a true and fai r  

v iew of  the state of  the affai r s  of  the char i table company and of  the surplus or  

def ic i t  for  that per iod.   I n  prepar ing these f inancial  s tatements the T rustees are 

requi red to:  

 

  Select su i table accounting pol ic ies and apply  them consi stent ly .  

  Observe methods and pr inciples in  the Char i ty SORP.  

  Make judgements and est imates that  are reasonable and prudent.  

  State whether  appl icable accounting s tandards have  been fo l lowed, 

subject to any mater ial  depar tures di sc losed and explained in the f inancial  

statements .  

  Prepare the f inancial  statements on the going concern basi s  unless i t  i s  

inappropr iate to assume that the char i table company wi l l  cont inue in 

operat ion.  
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Sta tement o f  T rustees Responsibi l i t ies  (Continued)  

 

The Trus tees  are al so responsible for  keeping proper accounting records that 

di sc lose wi th reasonable accuracy at any t ime the f inancia l  pos i t ion of  the 

char i table company and enable them to ensure that the f inancial  statements  

comply wi th the Companies Act  2006 .  They are responsible for  safeguarding the 

assets  of  the char i table company and hence for  tak ing reasonable steps for  the 

prevention and detect ion of  f raud and other  i r regular i t ies .  

 

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO THE AUDITOR  

 

So far  as the Board of  Trustees are aware:  

 

  There i s  no re levant  audi t  information of  wh ich the Char i ty’s  audi tors  are  

unaware and  

  They have taken al l  s teps that they ought to have taken as T rus tees and in 

order  to make themse lves  aware of  any re levant  audi t  information and to 

establ i sh that the Char i ty’s  audi tors  are aware of  that information.  

 

The Trus tees’ Repor t incorporates the Strategic Report which has been approved 

and author i sed for  i ssue by order  of  the Board.  

 

 

 

Mr  Jeremy I saacs CBE  

Chai rman 

 

Date:  13 December 2021  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS AND TRUSTEES OF NOAH’S  ARK –  

THE CHILDREN’S HOSPICE  

 

Opinion  

We have audi ted the f inancial  s tatements of  Noah’s Ark –  The Chi ldren’s Hospice 

for  the per iod ended 31 March 2021 which compr i se the Statement of  F inancial  

Act iv i t ies ,  the Balance Sheet, the Cash F low Statement and the re lated notes to 

the f inancial  s tatements ,  inc luding a summary of  s igni f icant accounting pol ic ies. 

The f inancial  report ing f ramework that has been appl ied in thei r  preparat ion i s  

appl icable law and Uni ted Kingdom Accounting Standards , inc luding F inancial  

Repor t ing Standard 102  The F inancia l  Repor t ing Standard appl icable in the UK 

and Republ ic of  I re land (Uni ted Kingdom General ly Accepted Accounting 

Practice).  

 

In  our  opin ion, the f inancial  s tatements :  

  give a true and fai r  v iew of  the s tate of  the char i table company’s af fai r s  as  

at 31 March 2021 and of  the char i table company’s net movement in funds , 

inc luding the income and expendi ture , for  the per iod then ended;  

  have been proper ly  prepared in accordance wi th Uni ted Kingdom 

General ly Accepted Accounting Practice;  and  

  have been prepared in accordance wi th the requi rements of  the 

Companies Act  2006 .  

 

Basis  for  opinion  

We conducted our  audi t  in  accordance wi th  International  Standards on Audi t ing 

(UK) (I SAs  (UK))  and appl icable law. Our  responsibi l i t ies under those s tandards 

are fur ther  descr ibed in the Audi tor’s  respons ibi l i t ies for  the audi t  of  the f inancial  

statements sect ion of  our  report .  We are independent of  the char i ty in  

accordance wi th  the eth ical  requi rements  that  are  re levant  to our  audi t  of  the 

f inancial  statements in  the UK, inc luding the FRC’s Eth ical  S tandard, and we have 

fu l f i l led our  other  eth ical  responsibi l i t ies in  accordance wi th these requi rements . 

We bel ieve that the audi t  evidence we have obtained i s  suf f icient and 

appropr iate to provide a basi s  for  our  opin ion.  

 

Conclusions  re lat ing to  going concern  

In  audi t ing the f inancial  s tatements ,  we have concluded that  the trustees’  use of  

the going concern basi s  of  accounting in the preparat ion of  the f inancial  

statements i s  appropr iate.   

 

Based on the work we have perfor med, we have not ident i f ied any mater ial  

uncertaint ies  re lat ing to events or  condi t ions that ,  individual ly or  col lect ively ,  

may cast s igni f icant doubt on the char i table  company’s abi l i ty to continue as a 

going concern for  a per iod of  at least twelve months  f rom when the f inancial  

statements are author i sed for  i ssue.  

 

Our  responsibi l i t ies and the responsibi l i t ies of  the trus tees wi th respect to going 

concern are descr ibed in the re levant sect ions of  th i s  report .   
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Independent Audi tor ’ s  Repor t to  The Members and Trus tee s of  Noah’s Ark  –  The 

Chi ldren’s  Hospice (Continued)  

 

Other information  

The trus tees  are responsible  for  the other  information. The other  information 

compr i ses the information included in the Trustees’  Repor t .  Our  opin ion on the 

f inancial  s tatements  does not cover  the other  information and, except to the  

extent otherwise expl ic i t ly  s tated in our  report ,  we do not express any form of  

assurance conc lus ion thereon.  

 

In  connection wi th our  audi t  of  the f inancial  statements , our  responsibi l i ty i s  to  

read the other  information and, in  doing so, cons ider  whether  the other  

information i s  mater ial ly  inconsi s tent wi th  the f inancial  s tatements or  our  

knowledge obtained in the audi t  or  otherwise appears to be ma ter ial ly  miss tated.  

I f  we ident i fy such mater ial  inconsi s tencies or  apparent mater ial  mi ss tatements ,  

we are requi red to determine whether  there i s  a mater ia l  miss tatement in the 

f inancial  s tatements or  a mater ia l  miss tatement of  the other  informat ion. I f ,  based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there i s  a mater ial  

miss tatement of  th i s  other  information, we are requi red to report  that  fact .  We 

have nothing to report  in  th i s  regard.  

 

Opinions on other matters prescr ibed by the Companies Act  200 6 

In  our  opin ion, based on the work undertaken in the course of  the audi t :  

  the information given in the Trus tees’ Report (which includes the s trategic 

repor t and the di rector s’  repor t  prepared for  the purposes of  company law) 

for  the f inancial  per iod for  which the f inancial  s tatements are prepared i s  

cons i stent wi th the f inancial  s tatements ; and  

  the strategic repor t and the di rector s’  report  inc luded wi th in the Trustees’  

Repor t has been prepared in accordance wi th appl icable  legal  

requi rements .  

 

 

Matters  on  which we are required to repor t by except ion  

In  the l ight of  the knowledge and unders tanding of  the char i table company and 

i ts  envi ronment obtained in the course of  the audi t ,  we have not ident i f ied 

mater ial  mi ss tatements  in  the Trus tees’ Report (which in corporates the s trategic 

repor t and the di rectors’  repor t) .  

 

We have nothing to repor t in  respect of  the fol lowing matter s  in  re lat ion to which 

the Companies Act  2006 requi res us to repor t  to you i f ,  in  our  opin ion:  

  adequate accounting records have not  bee n kept by the char i table  

company; or  

  the char i table  company f inancial  s tatements  are not  in  agreement wi th the 

accounting records and returns ; or  

  certain di sc losures of  t rustees’  remunerat ion speci f ied by law are not  made;  

or  

  we have not received al l  the i nformation and explanations  we requi re for 

our  audi t .  
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Independent Audi tor ’ s  Repor t to  The Members and Trus tee s of  Noah’s Ark  –  The 

Chi ldren’s  Hospice (Continued)  

 

Respons ibi l i t ies  of  T rus tees for  the f inancial  s tatements  

As  explained more fu l ly  in  the trus tees’ responsibi l i t ies s tatement set out  on page 

35, the trus tees (who are a lso the di rector s  of  the char i table company for  the 

purposes of  company law) are  responsible for  the preparat ion of  the f inancial  

statements and for  be ing sat i s f ied that  they give a true and fai r  v iew, and for  

such internal  contro l  as the trustees determine i s  necessary  to enable the 

preparat ion of  f inancial  s tatements that are f ree f rom mater ia l  miss tatement, 

whether  due to f raud or  er r or .  

 

In  prepar ing the f inancial  s tatements ,  the trustees are responsible  for  assess ing 

the char i table  company’s abi l i ty to  continue as a going concern,  di sc los ing,  as  

appl icable , matter s  re lated to going concern and us ing the going concern basi s  

of  account ing un less  the trus tees  e i ther  intend to l iqu idate the char i table 

company or  to  cease operat ions , or  have no real i s t ic  al ternat ive but to do so.  

 

Audi tor ’s  responsibi l i t ies for  the audi t  of  the f inancial  statements  

Our  object ives are to obtain reasonable a ssurance about whether  the f inancial  

statements as a whole are f ree f rom mater ial  miss tatement, whether  due to f raud 

or  er ror ,  and to i s sue an audi tor’s  repor t that  includes  our  opin ion. Reasonable 

assurance i s  a h igh level  of  assurance, but  i s  not  a guara ntee that  an audi t  

conducted in accordance wi th I SAs  (UK) wi l l  a lways detect  a mater ia l  

miss tatement when i t  ex i sts .  Mi ss tatements can ar i se f rom f raud or  er ror  and are 

considered mater ial  i f ,  individual ly  or  in  the aggregate,  they could reasonably 

be expected to inf luence the economic decis ions of  users  taken on the basi s  of  

these f inancial  s tatements .  

 

I r regular i t ies ,  inc luding f raud, are ins tances  of  non -compl iance wi th laws and 

regulat ions . We design procedures in  l ine wi th  our  responsibi l i t ies,  out l ine d above, 

to detect  mater ial  miss tatements in  respect of  i r regular i t ies ,  inc luding f raud. The 

extent to which our  procedures  are  capable of  detecting i r regular i t ies,  inc luding 

f raud i s  detai led be low . 

 

Based on our  unders tanding of  the char i table company an d the envi ronment in 

which i t  operates ,  we ident i f ied the pr incipal  r i sks  of  non -compl iance wi th laws 

and regu lat ions ,  re lated regulatory  requi rements  of  the Care Qual i ty Commiss ion,  

Char i ty Commiss ion, Fundrai s ing regulat ions ,  Employment law  and GDPR and we 

considered the extent to which non -compl iance might have a mater ial  ef fect on 

the f inancial  s tatements . We al so considered those laws and regulat ions that 

have a di rect impact on the preparat ion of  the f inancial  statements such as the 

Companies Act  2006 , the Char i t ies Act  2011 and payro l l  tax .  

 

We evaluated management’s  incentives and oppor tuni t ies for  f raudulent  

manipulat ion of  the f inancial  statements (inc luding the r i sk  of  overr ide of  

contro ls ) ,  and determined that the pr incipal  r i sks  were re lated to post ing 

inappropr iate journal  entr ies to revenue and management bias in  accounting 

est imates . Audi t  procedures performed by the engagement team included:  

  Inspecting trus tees’ meeting minutes ;  

  Inspecting correspondence wi th regulators  and tax author i t ies ;  
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  Discuss ions wi th management including considerat ion of  known or  

suspected instances of  non -compl iance wi th laws and regulat ion and 

f raud;  

  Evaluating management’s  control s  des igned to prevent and detect  

i r regular i t ies ;  

  Ident i fy ing and test ing journals ,  in  par t icular  journal  entr ies posted wi th  

unusual  account combinations , post ings by unusual  user s  or  wi th unusual  

descr ipt ions ; and 

  Chal lenging assumptions and judgements made by management in thei r  

cr i t ical  accounting est imates .  

 

A fur ther  descr ipt ion of  our  responsibi l i t ies for  the audi t  of  the f inancial  

statements i s  located on the F inancia l  Report ing Counci l ’ s  websi te at : 

www.f rc .org.uk/audi torsresponsibi l i t ies .  Th i s  descr ipt ion forms par t of  our 

audi tor’s  report .  

 

Use of  our  repor t  

Th i s  report  i s  made so le ly to the char i table company's  members ,  as  a body, in  

accordance wi th  Chapter  3  of  Par t  16 of  the Companies  Act  2006.  Our  audi t  work 

has been under taken so that we might state to the char i table  company's  

members  those matters  we are requi red to s tate to them in an Audi tor ' s  repor t  

and for  no other  purpose. To the fu l les t  extent permi t ted by law, we do not accep t 

or  assume responsibi l i ty to  anyone other  than the char i table company and the 

char i table company' s  members  as a body, for  our  audi t  work ,  for  th i s  repor t ,  or  

for  the opin ions we have formed.  

 

 

 

 

……………………………………………………………  

Kathryn Bur ton (Senior  Sta tutory Aud i tor)             10 Queen Street P lace  

For  and on behalf  of  Haysmacintyre LLP,            London  

Statutory Audi tor                 EC4R 1AG         

   

           

 

Date:………………………….……………..   

  

15th December 2021

https://haysmacintyre.eu1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAbYEzuYhHn84pAcI_ZTIuyM80OQ3_wP-v
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FOR THE 15 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  ACTIVIT IES    

( INCLUDING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)  

 

   15 Months  

Ended 

31 March 

2021 

 

15 Months  

Ended 

31 March 

2021 

 

15 Months  

Ended 

31 March 

2021 

 

12 Months  

Ended 31  

December  

2019 

 

   Unres tr icted 

Funds  

Rest r ic ted 

Funds  

Total  Total  

 Note  £ £ £ £ 

Income f rom       

Donat ions & legacies        

  Donations    3 ,816 ,283  1,498 ,819  5,315 ,102  2,650 ,290  

  Bu i lding The Ark Appeal    -  -  -  3 ,408 ,592  

  Legacies    80,500  -  80,500  60,758  

  Gi f t  aid    262,332  -  262,332  132,686  

Investments  3  3 ,073  -  3 ,073  6,761  

Other t rading act iv i t ies  4  10,586  -  10,586  -  

Char i table act iv i t ies        

  S tatutory grants  4   -  1 ,780 ,450  1,780 ,450  154,219  

  Other  grants  4   -  -  -  45,705  

Income f rom char i table 

activ i t ies  

4   220,264  -  220,264  -  

   ----------------------- --------------------- ------------------ ------------------ 

Total     4 ,393 ,038  3,279 ,269  7,672 ,307  6,459 ,011  

   ----------------------- ---------------------- ------------------ ------------------ 

Expendi ture on        

Rais ing funds        

Costs  of  generat ing 

vo luntary  income 

  403,284  329,457  732,741  503,960  

Costs  re lat ing to Bui lding The 

Ark  appeal  

  -  -  -  207,675  

Costs  of  act iv i t ies 

generat ing income 

  13,026  -  13,026  139,303  

Fundrai s ing trading costs    -  -  -  47,173  

       

Char i table act iv i t ies        

Care services    370,766  2,639 ,757  3,010 ,523  1,964 ,077  

Sustain ing The Ark    8 ,580  279,925  288,505  243,479  

   -------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- 

Total  5   795,656  3,249 ,139  4,044 ,795  3,105 ,667  

   -------------------- --------------------- --------------------- --------------------- 

       

Net income and Net 

movement in  funds  

  3,597,382  30,130  3,627,512  3 ,353 ,344  

Reconci l iat ion of  funds        

Total  funds brought forward    11,058 ,147 353,089  11,411 ,236 8,057 ,892  

   ------------------- ------------------ ------------------- ------------------- 

Total  funds carr ied forward  16  14,655,529  383,219  15,038,748  11,411 ,236 

   ========= ========= ========= ========= 

       

       

       

The resu l ts  for  the per iod are der ived f rom continuing operat ions .   

 

There were no recogni sed gains or  losses ,  other  than those pass ing through the 

statement of  f inancial  act iv i t ies .  



 

42 
 

BALANCE SHEET  

 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2021  

 

  As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 December 2019 

    

 Notes £ £ £ £ 

FIXED ASSETS      

      

Tangible fixed assets 9  10,135,066  10,369,278 

Investments 10  -  2 

   ------------------  ------------------ 

   10,135,066  10,369,280 

CURRENT ASSETS      

      

Debtors 11 613,175  570,772  

Cash at bank and in hand  4,602,635  1,258,878  

  ------------------  ------------------  

  5,215,810  1,829,650  

CREDITORS: amounts falling 

due within one year 

     

 12 (312,128)  (787,694)  

  ------------------  ------------------  

NET CURRENT ASSETS   4,903,682  1,041,956 

   -------------------  ------------------ 

      

NET ASSETS   15,038,748  11,411,236 

   ==========  ========== 

      

FUNDS      

      

Restricted funds 14  383,219  353,089 

      

Unrestricted funds      

General 15  3,703,463  1,071,206 

Designated 15  10,952,066  9,986,941 

   ---------------------  --------------------- 

   15,038,748  11,411,236 

   ==========  ========== 

 

The f inancial  statements were approved and author i sed for  i ssue by the Board of  

Trustees on and were s igned below on i ts  behalf  by:  

 

 
Mr  Jeremy I saacs CBE  

Chai rman 

13 December 2021  

 

Accompanying notes form an integra l  par t of  these accounts .  

 

 

  

Company number :  03901606  
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

 

FOR THE 15 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

 
 15 months ended 

31 March 2021  

12 months ended  

31 December  2019 

 Total  funds  

 

Total  funds  

 £ £ £ £ 

     

     

Cash f lows f rom operat ing activ i t ies   3 ,492 ,592   3 ,152 ,786  

     

Cash f lows f rom invest ing activ i t ies :      

D ividends, interest  and rents f rom investments  3 ,073   6 ,761   

Purchase of  property , plant and equipment  (151 ,908)   (3 ,326 ,167)   

 -------------------------  ----------------------------  

Net cash used in  operating activ i t ies   (148,835)   (3 ,319 ,406)  

  --------------------------  ----------------------------- 

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the 

repor t ing per iod   

 

3 ,343 ,757   

 

(166 ,620)  

     

Cash and cash equiva lents brought forward   

1 ,258 ,878   

 

1 ,425 ,498  

  ---------------------------  -------------------------- 

Cash and cash equiva lents carr ied forward      

  4,602,635   1,258 ,878  

  ==========  ========== 

     

  2021  2019 

  £  £ 

Reconci l iat ion of  net movement in funds to 

cash f low f rom operating activ i t ies  

    

Net movement in funds   3 ,627 ,512   3 ,353 ,344  

Depreciat ion charges   328,723   143,525  

Dividends, interest  and rents f rom investments   (3 ,073)   (6 ,761)  

(Increase) in  debtor s   (42 ,402)   (450 ,908)  

(Decrease)/ increase in credi tor s   (475 ,565)   113,586  

Loss on di sposal  of  f i xed assets   57,397   -  

  ------------------  ------------------ 

Net cash prov ided by invest ing activ i t ies   3,492,592   3 ,152 ,786  

 

 

 ==========  ========== 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

Basis  o f  P reparation  

The f inancial  s tatements  have been prepared in accordance wi th  

Accounting and Report ing by Char i t ies :  S tatement of  Recommended 

Practice appl icable to char i t ies prepar ing thei r  accounts in  accordance 

wi th the F inancial  Report ing Standard appl icable in the UK an d Republ ic 

of  I re land (FRS 102)   (Char i t ies SORP Second Edi t ion, ef fect ive 1 January 

2019), the F inancial  Repor t ing Standard appl icable  in the UK and Republ ic 

of  I re land (FRS 102) and the Companies Act  2006.  

 

Noah’s  Ark  –  The Chi ldren’s  Hospice meets the def in i t ion of  a publ ic benef i t  

ent i ty under FRS102 .  Assets  and l iabi l i t ies  are  in i t ia l ly  recognised at 

h i stor ical  cost or  t ransaction value unless otherwise stated in the re levant 

accounting pol icy notes .  

 

Going Concern  

The Trus tees have considered the impact of  Covid-19  on the Char i ty . 

Further  information can be found in the Trustee Repor t sect ion t i t led 

F inancial  Sustainabi l i ty  and Going Concern.  The review of  our  f inancial  

pos i t ion ,  reserves leve ls  and future plans  gives  Trustees conf idence that 

the Char i ty remains a going concern for  the foreseeable fu ture . As  par t of  

th i s  review budgets for  the year  to 31 March 2022 and cash f low project ions 

to 31 December  2022 prepared by management have been assessed by 

the Trus tees . The Trus tees cons ider  there are n o mater ial  uncer taint ies 

about the Char i ty’s  abi l i ty to continue as  a going concern.  

 

Cr i t ical  account ing judgements and est imates and key sources of  

es t imat ion uncer tain ty  

In  the appl icat ion of  these accounting pol ic ies, the Trus tees are requi red 

to make judgements ,  est imates and assumptions about the carry ing value 

of  assets  and l iabi l i t ies that are not readi ly apparent f rom other  sources.  

  

Es t imates and judgements are continual ly evaluated and are based on 

h i stor ical  exper ience and other  factors ,  inc lu ding expectat ions  of  future 

events that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the c i rcumstances .  

Al though these est imates are based on management’s  best knowledge of  

the amount, events or  act ions , actual  resu l t s  may u l t imately di f fer  f rom 

those est imates .  Re vi s ions to accounting est imates are  recognised in the 

per iod in which the est imate i s  revi sed i f  the revi s ion af fects  on ly that 

per iod or  in  the per iod of  the revi s ion and future per iods i f  the revi s ion 

af fects  cur rent and future per iods . The Trustees cons ider  the fo l lowing 

i tems to be areas subject to est imation and judgement:  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

 

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)  

 

Depreciat ion: the usefu l  economic l ives of  tangible f i xed assets  are based 

on management’s  judgement and exper ience. When management 

ident i f ies that actual  usefu l  economic l i ves di f fer  mater ial ly  f rom the 

est imates used to calculate depreciat ion, that charge i s  adjusted 

retrospectively .  Al though tangible f i xed as sets  are  s igni f icant ,  var iances 

between actual  and est imated usefu l  economic l ives wi l l  not  have a 

mater ial  impact on the operat ing resu l ts .  Hi stor ical ly ,  no changes have 

been requi red.  

  

Income f rom legacies :  when recognis ing legacy income, ent i t lement i s  

taken to be the ear l ier  date of  when the Char i ty becomes aware that  

probate has been granted, when the estate has been f inal i sed and 

not i f icat ion made by the executor s  that a di st r ibut ion wi l l  be made, or  

when the di s t r ibut ion i s  received. Cer tainty of  r eceipt and re l iable  

measurement depend on the individual  case,  and par t icular ly whether  the 

value of  a s igni f icant unsold asset  (e .g. a house) can be re l iably measured.   

  

In  the view of  the Trustees , no assumptions concerning the futu re or  

est imated uncer tainty af fect ing assets  or  l iabi l i t ies at the balance sheet 

date are l i ke ly to resu l t  in  a mater ia l  adjus tment to thei r  carry ing amounts  

in  the next f inancial  year .  

 

Income 

Al l  income i s  recognised once the Char i ty  has ent i t lement to income, i t  i s  

probable that income wi l l  be received and the amount of  income 

receivable can be measured re l iably .  

 

Donat ions and legacies  

Donation income i s  accounted for  where there i s  ent i t lement, probabi l i ty  

and income i s  measurable . For  legacies , ent i t lement i s  taken as th e ear l ier  

of  the date on which ei ther  the Char i ty i s  aware that probate has  been 

granted, the estate has been f inal i sed and not i f icat ion has been made by 

the executor (s )  to the Trust  that a di s t r ibut ion wi l l  be made or  when a 

di st r ibut ion i s  received f rom the estate.  

 

Generat ing Funds  

Income i s  accounted for  on a cash received and accruals  of  known 

income basi s  unless re lated to an event scheduled to take p lace in a later  

accounting per iod in which case i t  i s  defer red unt i l  af ter  the event has 

taken place.  The main sources of  income are analysed in the Notes .   

 

Investment Income 

Investment income ref lects the amount receivable  for  the year .  

 



 

46 
 

FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31  MARCH 2021 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

 

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)  

 

Gif ts  in k ind  

No amounts are included in the f inancial  statements for  goods or  se rvices 

donated.    

 

Expendi ture  

Expendi ture i s  accounted for  on an accruals  bas i s  and has been c lass i f ied 

under headings that  aggregate a l l  cost s  re lated to the category. 

Char i table  activ i t ies re late to the di rect provi s ion of  care in The Ark and 

communi ty .  Rai s ing funds re late to fundrai s ing costs .   Governance costs  

are those associated wi th const i tu t ional  and s tatutory  requi rements  and i s  

now appor t ioned on the same basi s  as support costs .   Salary costs  have 

been a l located based on t ime spent in  each area by each member of  

staf f .  Al l  other  support costs  inc luding support  s taf f  salar ies  not d i rect ly  

attr ibutable  to an expendi ture category are  shown  as suppor t  costs  and 

have been apport ioned on the basi s  of  f loor  space across each act iv i ty .  

 

Value added tax  

Value added tax not recoverable i s  inc luded in the re levant costs  in  the 

Statement of  F inancial  Act iv i t ies .    

 

Leases  

Payments under operat ing leases are charged to the Statement of  

F inancial  Act iv i t ies on a s traight l ine basi s  over  the l i fe of  the lease.  

   

Tangible F ixed Assets  

Tangible f i xed assets  are stated at cost less  depreciat ion.  Depreciat ion i s  

provided at rates calculated to wr i te of f  the cost of  f i xed assets ,  less  thei r  

est imated res idual  va lue, over  thei r  expected usefu l  l i fe as fol lows:  

 
Leasehold proper ty  over the length of  the lease  

F ixtures , f i t t ings and computer  

equipment       

pre-Hospice 25% straight l ine, Hospice  

10% s traight l ine  

Bui ldings  Envi ronment Centre (‘E -Centre’) 30  

years ,  Hospice 50 years  

 

 

Investments  

Investments are included in the f inancial  statements at market value at  

the balance sheet date. Real i sed and unreal i sed gains and losses on 

revaluat ion and di sposals  occurr ing in the year  are reported in the 

Statement of  F inancial  Act iv i t ies .  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  (CONTINUED)  

 

1.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (CONTINUED)  

 

Fund Accounting  

General  funds  are  unrestr icted funds which can be used at  the di scret ion 

of  the Trus tees  in accordance wi th the object ives  of  the Char i ty and which 

have not  been designated for  other  purposes . Des ignated funds compr i se 

unrestr icted funds that  have been set  as ide by the Trus tees  for  par t icular  

purposes .  The aim and use of  each designated fund i s  set out  in  the notes  

to the accounts .  

 

Restr icted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance wi th 

speci f ic  restr ict ions imposed by donors .  The purposes and uses  of  the 

restr icted funds are  set  out in  note 14 .   

 

Pens ions  

The Char i ty makes contr ibut ions to the National  Heal th Service Pens ion 

Scheme for  cer tain employees ,  which i s  a def ined benef i t  scheme. As  the 

scheme i s  a mult i -employer  scheme and the company i s  unable to ident i fy 

i ts  share of  the under ly ing assets  and l iabi l i t ies ,  th i s  scheme i s  accounted 

for  by the Char i ty as  a def ined contr ibut ion scheme. The Char i ty al so 

makes contr ibut ions to the Aviva Stakeholder  Pens ion Scheme for  other  

e l igible employees . Th i s  i s  a def ined contr ibut ion scheme.  

 

Debtors  

Trade and other  debtors  are recognised at  the sett lement amount due 

after  any trade di scount of fered.  Prepayments  are  valued at  the amount 

prepaid net of  any trade di scounts due.  

 

Cash at  bank and in hand  

Cash at bank and cash in hand includes cash and shor t term highly l iqu id 

investments .  

 

Creditors  and provis ions  

Credi tors  and provi s ions are recognised where the Char i ty has a present 

obl igat ion resu l t ing f rom a past event that wi l l  probably resu l t  in  the 

transfer  of  funds to a th i rd par ty and the amount due to sett le the 

obl igat ion can be measured or  es t imated re l iably . Credi tors  and provi s ions  

are normal ly recognised at thei r  sett lement amount after  al lowing for  any 

trade di scounts due.  

 

Employee benef i ts   

• Shor t  term benef i ts  Shor t  term benef i t s  inc luding hol iday pay are 

recognised as an expense in the per iod in wh ich the service i s  received.  

 

• Employee termination benef i ts  Termination benef i ts  are accounted  

for  on an accrual  bas i s  and in l ine wi th FRS 102.  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 
 

 2 .  SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  2021 2019  

   £ £  

 Surplus i s  s tated after  charging:     

 Audi tor ’s  remunerat ion   12,700  13,342   

 Depreciat ion   328,723  143,525   

 Operat ing lease rental s    29,525  24,898   

      

3.  INVESTMENT  INCOME     

 Unres tr icted funds   2021 2019  

   £ £  

      

 Bank interest received   3 ,073  6,761   

   ------------------------- -------------------------  

   3 ,073  6,671   

   ======== ========  

 Al l  investment income in both years was unrestr icted.  

 

  

4.  OTHER TRADING ACTIVIT IES      

 Unres tr icted funds   2021 2019  

   £ £  

      

 Merchandise  947 -   

 Event  income f rom Noah’s Ark  

events  

 5 ,777  -   

 Chal lenge events regi st rat ion 

fee income 

 188 -   

 E-Centre income  2,745  -   

 Sundry t rading income   929 -   

   ------------------------- -------------------------  

   10,586  -   

   ======== ========  

      

 Al l  other  t rading activ i ty income was unrestr icted.    

      

 INCOME FROM GRANTS      

   2021 2019  

   £  £  

 Statutory grants      

 Sect ion 64 grant for  hospices   203,457  154,219   

 Government fur lough grant   157,672  -   

 Government Covid-19 Hospice grant   1 ,394 ,321  -   

 Local  author i ty Covid -19 grant   25,000  -   

      

 Other grants   -  45,705   

   ------------------------- -------------------------  

   1 ,780 ,450  199,924   

   ======== ========  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES     

   2021 2019  

   £ £  

 Care income  216,390 -  

 Income from the Hospice’s Rainbow 

Café 

 3,874 -  

   ------------------ ------------------  

   220,264 -  

   ======== ========  

 

 

5. EXPENDITURE  

Direct & Directly 

 

Support 

Total for 15 

months ended 

 

  Allocated Costs Costs 31 March 2021  

 CURRENT PERIOD £ £ £  

 Raising funds     

 Costs of generating voluntary Income 593,987 138,754 732,741  

 Costs of activities for generating 

income 

13,026 - 13,026  

 Charitable activities     

 Care services 

Sustaining The Ark 

2,039,247 

242,253 

971,276 

46,252 

3,010,523 

288,505 

 

  ------------------- ----------------- ------------------  

  2,888,513 1,156,282 4,044,795  

  ========= ========= =========  

 

 PRIOR YEAR     

   

Direct & Directly 

Allocated Costs 

 

Support  

Costs 

Total for 12 

months ended 

31 Dec. 2019 

 

      

  £ £ £  

      

 Costs of generating voluntary Income 447,313 56,647 503,960  

 Costs relating to Building The Ark 

Appeal 

207,675 - 207,675  

 Costs of activities for generating 

Income 

139,303 - 139,303  

 Fundraising trading costs 47,173 - 47,173  

 Charitable activities     

 Care services 1,643,076 321,001 1,964,077  

 Sustaining The Ark 243,479 - 243,479  

  ------------------- ----------------- ------------------  

  2,728,019 377,648 3,105,667  

  ========= ========= =========  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 

5. EXPENDITURE (continued)      

   Finance and IT and Total  

  Premises Administration Communications 2021  

 SUPPORT COSTS – CURRENT PERIOD £ £ £ £  

 Raising funds      

 Costs of generating voluntary income 36,901 78,855 22,998 138,754  

 Charitable activities      

 Care services 258,305 551,984 160,987 971,276  

 Sustaining The Ark  12,300 26,286 7,666 46,252  

  ----------------- ---------------- --------------- ----------------  

  307,506 657,125 191,651 1,156,282  

  ======== ======== ======= ========  

 

   Finance and IT and Total 

  Premises Administration Communications 2019 

 SUPPORT COSTS – PRIOR YEAR £ £ £ £ 

 Raising funds     

 Costs of generating voluntary  

income 

 

3,039 

 

44,646 

 

8,962 

 

56,647 

 Charitable activities     

 Care services 17,224 252,996 50,781 321,001 

 Sustaining The Ark  - - - - 

  ----------------- ---------------- --------------- ---------------- 

  20,263 297,642 59,743 377,648 

  ======== ======== ======= ======== 

 

     

 

15 months ended 

31 March 2021 

 

 

12 months 

ended 

31 December 

2019 

6. GOVERNANCE COSTS   £       £ 

      

 Staff costs    88,099 62,274 

 Audit fees   16,100 13,342 

 Trustee meeting expenses   139 1,670 

    ---------------- ---------------- 

    104,338 77,286 

    ======== ======== 

      

 

Governance costs are included within Finance and administration costs and have been allocated 

in line with support costs as per Note 5 above. 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 

7. STAFF COSTS 2021 2019 

  £ £ 

    

 Wages and salaries 2,530,532 1,847,527 

 Employer’s NI 257,953 179,858 

 Pension costs 102,208 72,321 

 Redundancy pay 18,383 - 

  ------------------ ------------------ 

  2,909,076 2,099,706 

  ========= ========= 

  
The average number of  employees dur ing the 1 5 month per iod was 62 (2019: 58 ) .  

On average 13 (2019 : 16) employees were di rect ly  employed in fundrai s ing and 

communications act iv i t ies and 37 (2019 : 30) employees  were di rect ly employed 

in Care. On average no employee was engaged in the Bui lding The Ark Appeal  

(2019 : 1 ) .  The remaining  employees  were involved in al l  aspects of  running the 

Char i ty . The actual  number of  employees as at 31 March 2021 was 54  

(31 December 2019 : 63) .  Redundancy pay above re lates to 5 employees (2019 :  0 ) 

who lef t  the Char i ty  dur ing the per iod. Al l  redundancy c osts  were paid by the 

end of  the per iod.  

 

Number of  staf f  wi th  remunerat ion in excess of  £60 ,000 in the year  for  the fu l l  15 

month per iod are as fo l lows:  

 
Employee remuneration £ 15 months ended  

31 March 2021 

12 months ended  

31 December 2019 

   

£60,000 – £70,000 1 1 

£70,000 – £80,000 1 1 

£80,000 – £90,000 2 2 

£90,000 – £100,000 1 - 

£100,000 – £110,000 1 1 

£130,000 – £140,000 1 - 

 

Number of  s taf f  wi th remunerat ion in excess  of  £60 ,000 for  the 12 month per iod 

f rom 1 Apr i l  2021 to 31 March 2021 are as fol lows:  

 

Employee remuneration £ 12 months ended 

31 March 2021 

12 months ended  

31 December 2019 

£60,000 – £70,000 2 1 

£70,000 – £80,000 2 1 

£80,000 – £90,000 1 2 

£100,000 – £110,000 1 1 

 
Key management personnel  compr i se the Senior  Leadersh ip Team. The tota l  

employee benef i t s  of  the key management personnel  of  Char i ty for  the 15 months 

ending 31 March 2021 were £593,204 (12 months ending 31 December 2019 : 

£401,971) .   
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 

8.   DIRECTORS'  REMUNERATION 

 

No Trus tees received any remunerat ion dur ing the cur rent or  pr ior  year .  

 

No Trus tee was re imbursed trave l  expenses in the year  (2019 : One Trustee was 

re imbursed for  t rave l  expenses of  £113) .  

 
9.  FIXED ASSETS      

    

 

 

 

 

  

Hospice 

and E-

Centre  

F ix tures,  

F i t t ings 

and 

Equipment  

Motor 

Vehic les  

31 March 

2021 

  £ £ £ £ 

 Cost      

 At  1  January 2020  10,215 ,137  417,652  5,558  10,638 ,347  

 Addi t ions  49,270  94,138  8,500  151,908  

 Di sposal s  (53 ,798)  -  (5 ,558)  (59 ,356)  

  ------------------- ----------------- ----------------- --------------------- 

 At  31 March 2021  10,210 ,609  511,790  8,500  10,730 ,899  

  ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- -------------------- 

 Depreciation      

 At  1  January 2020  228,196  40,568  305 269,069  

 Charge for  the year  256,563  68,912  3,248  328,723  

 Di sposal s  -  -  (1 ,959)  (1 ,959)  

  ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- 

 At  31 March 2021  484,759  109,480  1,594  595,833  

  ---------------- ----------------- ----------------- ---------------- 

 Net Book Value      

 At  31 March 2021  9,725 ,850  402,310  6,906  10,135 ,066  

  ========= ========= ======== =========== 

 At 31 December  2019  9,986 ,941  377,084  5,253  10,369 ,278  

  ========= ========= ======== =========== 

      

 
Al l  assets  are for  operat ional  and char i table purposes .  

 
10. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS  

   Shares in Total for 15 

   Subsidiary Months ended 

   Undertakings 31 March 2021 

   £ £ 

 Cost or valuation    

 At 1 January 2020  2 2 

 Disposal  (2) (2) 

   ======== ======== 

 At 31 March 2021  - - 

   ======== ======== 

 At 31 December 2019  2 2 

   ======== ======== 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

10.  F IXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

Shares in subsidiary  undertakings  

The fo l lowing are 100% owned subsidiary undertak ings , incorporated in England 

and Wales :  

 

Maleberry L imi ted  

Noah’s Ark Trading L imi ted  

 

Maleberry L imi ted was incorporated on 2 Febr uary 2011, wi th a pr inc ipal  act iv i ty 

of  the design and bui ld of  the E-Centre . I t  was di ssolved in January 2020.  

 

Noah’s Ark Trading L imi ted was incorporated on 10 June 2011, wi th a pr incipal  

act iv i ty of  retai l ing. I t  was di sso lved in June 2021.  

 
   

11. DEBTORS  

  As at 31 March As at 31 December 

  2021 2019 

  £ £ 

    

 Trade debtors 39,549 4,346 

 Other debtors 1,500 2,337 

 Prepayments and accrued income 549,757 523,475 

 Other taxation and social security 22,369 40,614 

  ----------------- ----------------- 

  613,175 570,772 

  ======== ======== 

    

 

12. CREDITORS: amounts falling due within  

 one year As at 31 March As at 31 December 

  2021 2019 

  £ £ 

    

 Trade creditors 69,573 183,085 

 Accruals 166,515 264,617 

 Other creditors 16,431 271,923 

 Taxation and social security 59,609 68,069 

  ----------------- ----------------- 

    312,128       787,694 

  ======== ======== 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 

13.  COMPANY STATUS  

The company i s  a company l imi ted by guarantee. The members of  the 

company are the Trus tees named on page 3 .  The l iabi l i ty in  respect of  the 

guarantee i s  l imi ted to £1 for  each member whi le he or  she i s  a member  or  

wi th in 12 months af ter  he or  she ceases to  be a member in the event of  the 

di sso lut ion of  the company .  

  

14. RESTRICTED FUNDS Balance at   Transfers Balances at 

  1 January Income Expenditure Between 31 March 

  2020   Funds 2021 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Building The Ark Appeal 

Sensory Walkway and Nature 

Reserve Sensory Trail Fund  

264,942 

 

- 

220,098 

 

250,700 

(457,036) 

 

(3,789) 

(28,004) 

 

- 

- 

 

246,911 

 Community Service      

 - - Nursing and Specialist Carers 

Fund 

22,813 405,805 (325,150) - 103,468 

 - Creative Therapies Fund 

- Family Link Fund 

- Family Activities Fund 

3,428 

18,413 

7,200 

96,500 

8,038 

4,881 

(76,999) 

(26,451) 

(12,081) 

- 

- 

- 

22,929 

- 

- 

 Department of Health Fund – S64 33,908 203,457 (237,365) - - 

 Wishes Fund 28 - (28) - - 

 Employee Training Fund 

Clinical Equipment Fund 

General Care Fund including  

Covid-19 grants and furlough 

1,641 

716 

 

- 

- 

55,546 

 

2,034,244 

(1,641) 

(74,355) 

 

(2,034,244) 

- 

28,004 

 

- 

- 

9,911 

 

- 

  ------------------- --------------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------------- 

  353,089 3,279,269 (3,249,139) - 383,219 

  ========== ========== ========= ========= ========= 

 RESTRICTED FUNDS – PRIOR YEAR 

Balance at 

1 January 

 

Income 

 

Expenditure 

Transfers 

Between 

Balances at 

31 December 

  2019   Funds 2019 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Building The Ark Appeal  6,717,200 3,408,592 (207,675) (9,653,175) 264,942 

 Sustaining The Ark Fund - - (243,479) 243,479 - 

 Community Service      

 - Nursing and Specialist Carers 

Fund 

28,605 192,994 (203,948) 5,162 22,813 

 - Creative Therapies Fund 

- Family Link Fund 

- Family Activities Fund 

10,000 

2,667 

18,743 

54,717 

23,968 

20,294 

(61,289) 

(5,555) 

(30,822) 

- 

(2,667) 

(1,015) 

3,428 

18,413 

7,200 

 Department of Health Fund – S64 31,250 135,638 (132,983) 3 33,908 

 Wishes Fund 878 - (850) - 28 

 Employee Training Fund 

Clinical Equipment Fund 

3,250 

- 

- 

716 

(704) 

- 

(905) 

- 

1,641 

716 

  ------------------- --------------------- ----------------- -------------------- ------------------- 

  6,812,593 3,836,919 (887,305) (9,409,118) 353,089 

  ========== ========== ========= ========= ======== 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

14.  RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONTINUED)  

 

The Bui lding The Ark  Appeal  was establ i shed to rai se funds  towards  the bui lding 

and running costs  of  a chi ldren’s hospice on land owned by the Char i ty in  Barnet .  

The transfer  in  2019 represents the land and bui lding costs  of  the Ark , costs  

previous ly capi tal i sed,  which have now been transfer red as there i s  no ongoing 

restr ict ion as to the  use of  th i s  asset upon complet ion of  construct ion.  

 

The Sensory Walkway and Nature Reserve Sensory T rai l  Fund  was establ i shed to 

bui ld a sensory walkway wi th in The Ark  grounds and a sensory t rai l  around the 

nature reserve.  

 

The Sustain ing The Ark Fund represents the funds rai sed by the Fund for  the running 

costs  of  The Ark . Th i s  i nc ludes  maintenance costs  and other  operat ional  costs  

associated wi th running the hospice.   

 

The Nurs ing and Specia l i s t  Carer s  Fund was establ i shed  in 2010.  The Fund provides 

respi te for  parents and fami ly members , al lowing fu l l  responsibi l i ty for  the care of  

the l i fe- l imi ted or  l i fe - threatened chi ld to be delegated to a trained nurse and /  

or  special i s t  carer ,  both in The Ark  and in the communi ty .  M ajor  donors  to th i s  

fund in the per iod included the London Communi ty  Response Fund and Chi ldren 

In Need.  

  

The Creative Therapies  Fund i s  used speci f ical ly to provide music , and drama and 

movement therapy, for  l i fe l imi ted and l i fe threatened chi ldren and thei r  s ib l ings .  

The Ci ty  Br idge Trus t  i s  the major  donor to the Fund.   

 

The Fami ly L ink Fund was establ i shed fo l lowing receipt of  res tr icted donations to 

provide social  worker s  to fami l ies .  

 

The Fami ly Activ i t ies  Fund was created to provide suppor t  for  ac t iv i t ies 

speci f ical ly  di rected at parents and s ibl ings  of  l i fe - l imi ted chi ldren,  wi th  a view 

to providing them wi th the oppor tuni ty to have exper iences independent of  thei r  

fami ly s i tuat ion and to interact wi th peers fac ing s imi lar  chal lenges .  

 

The Depar tment of  Health  Fund was establ i shed fol lowing the receipt  of  a Section 

64 grant to suppor t pal l iat ive care.  

 

The Wishes Fund was set up in 2008 to al low the Char i ty  to  support fami l ies  by 

grant ing ‘s igni f icant moment’ and ‘min i - t reat’ wi shes .  Th i s  has give n the Char i ty 

the abi l i ty to grant wi shes quick ly and independently , wi thout recourse to other  

wi sh-grant ing organisat ions .  The latter  wi l l  be approached should the t iming and 

nature of  the need of  fami l ies be appropr iate.  

   

The Employee Train ing Fund p rovides development and train ing for  s taf f .  

 

The Cl in ical  Equipment Fund provided speci f ic  funds for  t rain ing equipment for  

use by the Care Team.  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

The General  Care Fund prov ides suppor t to  the general  Care Team to ass i s t  them 

in providing care to chi ldren wi th l i fe threatening or  l i fe l imi t ing condi t ions . Th i s  

Fund included Government Covid -19 funding to al low the hospice to make 

avai lable bed capaci ty and communi ty suppor t f rom Apr i l  2020 to Ju ly 2020 to 

provide suppor t to babies, chi ldren and young people wi th complex needs in the 

context of  the Covid-19 s i tuat ion and to provide bed capaci ty and communi ty 

support  f rom November 2020 to March 2021 for  the same purpose. Th i s  Fund al so 

includes funds received under the Government Coronavi rus Job Retent ion 

Scheme.  

 

 

15. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS      

  Balance at   Transfers Balances at 

  1 January Income Expenditure between 31 March 

  2020   funds 2021 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

 Designated funds      

 Fixed Assets Fund 9,986,941 - - 148,125 10,135,066 

 Critical Ark Equipment Fund - - - 157,000 157,000 

 Digital Transformation Fund - - - 510,000 510,000 

 Clinical Support Fund - -- - 150,000 150,000 

  ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ------------------- 

       

 Unrestricted general fund 1,071,206 4,393,038 (795,656) (965,125) 3,703,463 

  ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ----------------------- 

 Total unrestricted funds 11,058,147 4,393,038 (795,656) - 14,655,529 

  ========= ========== ========= ======== =========== 

 

 

Designated funds  

The F ixed Asset Fund represents funds that the Trus tees have agreed to set as ide 

as des ignated funds as these assets  are not  eas i ly  real i sed in to cash and do not 

form par t of  the unrest r icted general  fund. These include a l l  f i xed assets  re lat ing 

to The Ark .  

 

The Cr i t ica l  Ark Equipment Fund i s  to fund speci f ic  c l inical  equipment and 

adaptat ions to the Ark .  

 

The Digi ta l  Transformation Fund i s  to fund th ree speci f ic  projects in  re lat ion to 

supporter  deve lopment and engagement and the Noah’s Ark brand ref resh .  

 

The Cl in ical  Suppor t Fund represents funds that the Trus tees have set as ide for  

future costs  re lat ing to speci f ic  su pport  f rom Barnet Hospi ta l  inc luding 24/7  

paediatr ic  consul tant support  and pharmacy cover .  
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

 

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS Balance at   Transfers Balances at 

- PRIOR YEAR 1 January 

2019 

Income Expenditure Between 

funds 

31 December 

2019  

 £ £ £ £ £ 

Designated funds      

Fixed Assets Fund 1,019,667 - - 8,967,274 9,986,941 

 ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

 

 

     

Unrestricted funds      

Unrestricted general fund 225,632 2,622,092 (2,218,362) 441,844 1,071,206 

 ------------------- ------------------ ---------------- ------------------- ------------------- 

Total unrestricted funds 1,245,299 2,622,092 (2,218,362) 9,409,118 11,058,147 

 =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== 
 

 

 
16. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS    

 BETWEEN FUNDS Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted 

Funds 

Total as at 31 

March 2021 

  £ £ £ 

     

 Fixed assets 10,135,066 - 10,135,066 

 Debtors 413,175 200,000 613,175 

 Bank and cash 4,204,312 398,323 4,602,635 

 Creditors less than one year (97,024) (215,104) (312,128) 

  ------------------- ------------------ ------------------ 

  14,655,529 383,219 15,038,748 

  ========= ========= ========= 

  

 

 

   

 PRIOR YEAR Unrestricted 

Funds 

Restricted 

Funds 

Total as at 31 

December 2019 

  £ £ £ 

     

 Fixed assets 10,369,280 - 10,369,280 

 Debtors 94,772 476,000 570,772 

 Bank and cash 851,578 407,300 1,258,878 

 Creditors less than one year (257,483) (530,211) (787,694) 

  ------------------- ------------------ ------------------ 

  11,058,147 353,089 11,411,236 

  ========= ========= ========= 
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FOR THE PER IOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021  

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)  

 

17.  F INANCIAL COMMITMENTS  

 

At 31 March 2021 the Char i ty had annual  commi tments under non -cancel lable  

operat ing leases as fol lows:  

 

   Land and buildings Other 

   2021 2019 2021 2019 

   £ £ £ £ 

 Operating leases which expire:      

 Within one year 

Between two to five years 

 - 

- 

30,000 

7,500 

2,620 

4,585 

2,620 

9,170 

   ======= ======= ======= ======= 

 

18.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 

The J I saacs  Char i table  Trust ,  of  which Mr Jeremy I saacs CBE i s  a Trustee, pledged 

£468,000 on 19 December 2019, £179 ,438 of  which was drawn down dur ing the 

per iod. The balance of  th i s  pledge to be drawn down as at 31 March 2021 i s 

£288,562 . Th i s  p ledge was included in the 2019 statutory accounts .  

 

S ince the per iod end the balance of  the or ig inal  pledge has  been increased to 

£300,000 . The sum of  £179,438 was for  speci f ic  amounts incur red dur ing 2019 in 

re lat ion to the bui lding of  The Ark and was drawn down against these amounts  in  

the year . However , the balance of  the p ledge has now been unrest r icted by the 

J I saacs Char i table Trust .  

 

In  addi t ion to th i s  The J I saac s Char i table Trust  donated £408,000 in  2019.  

 

The company received donations f rom the Trustees (exc luding Mr  I saacs CBE) 

total l ing £76,478 (2019 :  £35,256) .  

 

There were no other  re lated party t ransactions in  the cur rent or  the pr i or  per iod.  

 

19. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION     

  At 1 January 

2020 

Cashflows Other non-

cash changes 

At 

31 March 2021 

  £ £ £ £ 

      

      

 Cash at bank and in hand 1,258,878 3,343,757 - 4,602,635 

  ========= ========= ======= ======== 

      

  At 1 January 

2019 

Cashflows Other non-

cash changes 

At 31 December 

2019 

  £ £ £ £ 

      

 Cash at bank and in hand 1,425,498 (166,620) - 1,258,878 

  ========= ========= ======= ======== 
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